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PART I 

BACKGROUND 

'This incluiry arises out of a claim by the Gamblers First Nation tlrat Canada 
continues to owe it resene land under ll~e terms of Treaty 4.l The Gamblers 
First Xition adhcreci to Treaty 4 on September 21: 1874, a part ol a gro~lp 
of S a u l t c : ~ ~ ~ ~  Indians referred to as the "Fort Ellice B:lnd" hy Indian Commis- 
sioners Aleunnder Clorris. 1)avid Laird, and 1V.J. Christie. During the treaty 
negotk~lions, [he (;ambler \vas a powerfill spokesperson for this Iland. The 
treaty indicates th:~t the Band was led by Chief Waywayseecappo, hut it 
included Sroups that were eventually recognize11 by Canada ;IS separate bands 
under the ( ~ m h l e r .  South Quill. Rattlesnake, and Sakimay. I!nder the terms 
ol [he ireaty, C:lnad;l agreed to set aside reserves of one square r~iile (640 
~lcres) for eacll family of five, or 128 acres per person. lIo\vcvcr, the treaty 
doe> not specify the tirne at which a hand's populatiol~ is to be calculated for 
the p ~ ~ r p o w s  of determining how much resen.e land should be set aside for 
it< collective use; nor does the treaty specify what the respective rights and 
ol)lig:~tions ol the plriies are in a situ;~tion in which a group within the band 
seeks and obt;rins a surrender of a portion of the reserve land so tlrat a 
scl)ar~te resen-e can be set apart 211 anotlier location. It is this latter feature 
tliat is unicluc to the (hrnhlen First Nation treay land cntitlcment claim. 

Iccortling to the First Nation, the Ganthlcr :lnd his followers did not have 
21 resere set apart for tlieir own use :tnd benefit until I881 when, following 
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the "surrender for exchange" in 1881 of a portion of the reserve originally 
surveyed for the Fort EUice Band at Bird Tail Creek in 1877, a new reserve 
for the Gambler was laid out by Dominion Land Surveyor A.W. Ponton at 
Silver Creek. The First Nation submits that the 1877 survey was not con- 
ducted in accordance with the terms of Treaty 4 and must he considered 
invalid. Therefore, the First Nation claims that the appropriate date to be 
used to determine its entitlement to land is 1883, the year that reserve land 
was first surveyed for Gamblers First Nation. The First Nation asserts that its 
population in 1883 was 215, including individuals later paid arrears for that 
year, resulting in a treaty land entitlement of 27,520 acres. Since Indian 
Reserve (IR) 63, surveyed by Ponton, consisted of only 19,200 acres, the 
Gamblers First Nation claims a shortfall of 8320 acres. 

By way of contrast, the Government of Canada argues that the Gambler was 
a member of Waywayseecappo's band in 1877 and that he and his people 
must be considered to have received their land entitlement as part of the 
survey of reserve land for the Fort Ellice Band in that year. At that time, 
surveyor William Wagner laid out a reserve of 71.67 square miles (45,869.49 
acres), which was sufficient land for 358 people. Canada submits that, if the 
Sakimay and South Quill groups, which received separate reserves in 1876 
and 1882, respectively, are excluded from consideration, the population of 
Waywayseecappo's band in 1877 was 190; therefore, the reserve set apart by 
Wagner satisEed the hand's treaty land entitlement. Alternatively, if the 
Sakimay and South QuiU groups are included, Canada contends that the 
16,691 acres in their two reserves must also he included and the Fort Ellice 
Band's treaty land entitlement was stiU met. Finally, even if the First Nation is 
correct in its submission that 1883 was the date of first survey, Canada 
argues that the population figure of 215 relied on by the First Nation must be 
"revised downward to 148 by taking into account 26 "double counts,' 14 
'one-time onlies' and 27 other 'probable double co~nts ." '~  Since the 1883 
survey provided 30 square miles of land - sufficient for 150 people - Canada 
claims that the First Nation received a surplus of reserve land even if you 
accept that the First Nation's assertion that the appropriate date to determine 
its land entitlement is 1883. 

The central question in tins inquiry is whether the Gamblers First Nation's 
treaty land entitlement should be determined according to the population of 
the Fort EUice Band under Chief Waywayseecappo in 1877, when the Bird 

z Supplementary Submissions on Behalf of !he Government of Canada, May 9, 1997, p. 9. 
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Tail Creek reserve was first surveyed, or in 1883, when the survey was com- 
pleted for the Gambler's reserve at Silver Creek. It should be borne in mind, 
however, that the Commission has been asked to determine only what the 
appropriate date is for the purposes of calculating the treaty land entitlement 
of Gamblers First Nation. We have not been asked to determine the quantum 
of land the First Nation is entitled to or whether an outstanding entitlement to 
land is still owed by the Crown today. 

MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

The Commission's mandate to conduct inquiries pursuant to the Inquiries 
Act is set out in a commission issued on September 1, 1992. The Order in 
Council directs: 

that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada's Specific Claims Policy . . . by consid- 
ering only those matters at issue when the dispute was initially submitted to the Com- 
mission, inquire into and report upon: 

(a) whether a claimant has a valid claim for negotiation under the Policy where that 
claim has already been rejected by the Minister; and 

(b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a seltlement, where a 
claimant disagrees with the Minister's determination of the applicable criteria' 

The Specific Claims Policy is set forth in a I982 booklet published by the 
Department of Indian AEdirs and Northern Development (DIAND) entitled 
Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy - Specific Clain~s.~ In con- 
sidering a specific claim submitted by a First Nation to Canada, the Commis- 
sion must assess whether Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to 
the First Nation in accordance with the guidelines provided in Outstanding 
Business: 

The government's policy on specific claims is that it will recognize claims by Indian 
Bands which disclose an oubtandig "lawful obligation," i.e., an obligation derived 
from the law on the part of the federal government. 

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumslances: 

i) The non-ful6Ilmenl of a treaty or agreemalt between Indians and the Crown. 

3 Commiss~on issued September 1, 1992, puisuanl to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27, 1992, amending 
the Commission issued lo Chief Commissioner Harry S. LaForme on August 12. 1991, pursuant to Order m 
Council PC 1991.1329, July 15, 1991 (Consolidated Terms of Reference). 

4 D e p m e n t  of Indian Main and Nonhern Dwelopment (DUND), Outstanding Business: A Nutice C h i m  
Pdicy - ,S@clfc Claim (Otwua: Minister of Supply and SeMces. 19821, reprinted in 119941 1 ICCP 171-85. 
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ii) A breach of an obligation arising out of the lndian Act or other statutes pertain- 
ing to Indians and the regulations thereunder. 

iii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian 
funds or other assets. 

iv) An illegal disposition of Indian land. 

In addition to the foregoing, the government is prepared to acknowledge claims 
which are based on the following circumstances: 

i)  Failure to provide compensation for reserve lands (aken or damaged by the fed- 
eral government or its agencies under authority. 

ii) Fraud in connection with the acquisition or disposition of Indian reserve land by 
employees or agents of the federal government, in cases where the fraud can be 
clearly demonstrated.' 

THE INQUIRY 

The First Nation's claim to an outstanding treaty land entitlement was first 
submitted to Canada in 1981 and was most recently considered and rejected 
by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development on March 17, 
1994. A.J. Gross, Indian Affairs' Director of Treaty Land Entitlement, 
informed Chief James Tanner that the claim had been rejected on the follow- 
ing grounds: 

Upon review of the research it remains our view that Canada's treaty land obligation 
to the group which eventually became the Gamblers' [sic] Band was satisfied when 
land was surveyed in 1877 for that group as par( of the Waywayseecappo Band. Since 
the Gamblers Band did not exist in 1877 when the obligation was fulfilled, it is to the 
Waywayseecappo Band that one must look to determine whether Canada has fulfilled 
its lawful obligation. There is no evidence that members of the Gamblers Band, cre- 
ated sometime after the March 7, 1881 surrender vote, considered themselves a sepa- 
rate band prior to 1881. 

It is, rafher, our view, that the 1881 surrender resulted in agreement by 
Waywayseecappo Band members that its Bird Tail Creek Reserve could be reduced by 
30 square miles in order to allow members who wanted to form the Gamblers Band 
lo take a reserve of equal size elsewhere. This band division does not alter the fact 
that Canada had already set aside enough land to satisfy its meaty land enticlement 
obligation to those band members." 

5 DWD, Ourstanding Business. A Nali~e Claims Policy -Spec@ Claims (Ollaw: Minster of Supply and 
Services, 1982), 20, reprinled in 119941 1 lCCP 171-85. 

6 Ad. Cross, Director, Treaty Land Entillemenl, Dept of lndian ABain, Vancouver. BC, to Chief & Council, Cam- 
blers lndian Band, Bimcanh, Maniloh. March 17. 1994 (ICC Documenu. pp. 703-04). 
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On January 22, 1996, Chief Tanner wrote to the Indian Claims Commis- 
sion (the Commission) to request that this inquiry be convened,' and by June 
14 of that year a planning conference had been held to discuss and to refine 
the issues, to clarify the parties' positions, and to plan the course of the 
inquiry. At the planning conference, the parties agreed that the Commission 
would be asked for its recommendations with regard to three issues: 

1 Was Canada's obligation to provide treaty lands to the claimant in respect 
of the adherence to Treaty No. 4 on September 21, 1874 satisfied in 
1877 with the selection and survey of the lands at Birdtail [sic] Creek for 
the "Fort Ellice Band? 

2 To what extent, if at ,all, did the "surrender for exchange" in 1881 affect 
the treaty land entitlement of the claimant? 

3 What is the quantum of the claimant's outstanding treaty land entitlement, 
if any?" 

The parties also discussed whether the Gamblers' treaty land entitlement 
claim might affect other bands. Counsel for the First Nation, however, advised 
that "Rolling River's T.L.E. [treaty land entitlement] is not affected as their 
T.L.E. has been accepted [for negotiation by Canada]," and added that, 
"while other First Nations may be asked to provide information on their 
understanding of the historical background to the claim, no other First 
Nation has a legal interest in this claim and nor would they be affected by the 
Commission's  recommendation^."^ 

Following the receipt of written legal submissions by the First Nation on 
October 24, 1996, and by Canada on October 29, 1996, the Commission 
convened a hearing in Binscarth, Manitoba, on November 5 and 6, 1996, to 
receive testimony from members of the Gamblers First Nation and to hear 
legal arguments. However, because Canada had been unable to complete its 
paylist research and analysis, it was agreed that the oral submissions by 
counsel would be limited to two issues dealing with the appropriate date of 
first survey and the effect of the 1881 "surrender for exchange." 

1 Chief Junes Tanner, Camblen First Nalion, Binscanh, Maniloba, to Indian Clainls Comlnission. Ottawa, January 
22, 1996. 

8 lndian Waims Commssion, Planning Conference Summary: Gamblers Arst Nation Trehfy Land Enttdemenr, 
Otlawa, Ontario. June 14, 1996, p. 14. 

9 Indian Claims Commission, Planning Conference Summary: Gamblers First Nat~on Treaty Land Entitlement, 
Ottawa. Onlmo, June 14, 19%. pp. 11-12. The Rolling River Eirst Nalion comprhes the descendane of Soulh 
Quill and hi people. 
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Canada later filed supplementary written suhmissions on May 9, 1997, to 
address the issue of the quantum, if any, of the First Nation's outstanding 
treaty land entitlement. The First Nation intended to respond to those submis- 
sions hut, by that time, the research capacity of the Treaty and Aboriginal 
Rights Research (TARR) Centre of Manitoba, Inc., had been dedicated to 
assist in finalizing the Manitoha Treaty Land Entitlement Framework Agree- 
ment. For this reason, the parties agreed that the Commission's findings and 
recommendations in this inquiry should he restricted to identlfylng the Gan- 
hlers' date of first survey and determining the impact of the 1881 "surrender 
for exchange" on the First Nation's treaty land entitlement pending further 
confirming research to he conducted by the First Nation. 

During the course of the inquiry, the Commission has considered, in addi- 
tion to the written and oral suhmissions already mentioned, some 700 pages 
of historical documents in addition to 11 other exhibits comprising several 
thousand pages of material. A summary of the written submissions, documen- 
tary evidence, transcripts, and the balance of the record in this inquiry is set 
forth in Appendix A of this report. 

INTERESTS OF THE WAYWAYSEECAPPO FIRST NATION IN THIS 
INQUIRY 

Shortly after the completion of the oral sessions in November 1996, the Com- 
mission received a letter from Chief Murray Clearsky and the Waywaysee- 
cappo First Nation Band Council expressing concern that Waywayseecappo 
had not been notified of the inquiry or given an opportunity to participate, 
although it appeared that the issues being addressed might directly affect that 
First Nation. The Council added that it also had claims with the federal gov- 
ernment arising from the same  circumstance^.'^ 

In a subsequent letter, the Waywayseecappn First Nation provided a fuller 
outline of its position: 

Our position is that the surrender of 1881 which purportedly surrendered 30 sections 
of land was invalid under the provisions of the Indian Act in force at the time. 

This surrender is invalid because only 23 out of at least 7 [sic] male members of 
the Band of the fuU age of 21 years assented to the surrender. A majority of the Band 
must assent. 

l o  Chief and Council, WayMyseecappo First Nation, to Ron S. Maurice, Indian Claims Commission, Otwua, Novem- 
ber 14, 19% (ICC 61e 2106-09-1). 

13 
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Alternatively if the surrender is valid which we deny, under the terms of the sur- 
render it says, "And whereas since the assignment thereof as foresaid it has been 
found more convenient and for the interests of the said Band of Indians that the 
boundaries of the said reserve on the south and east side should be altered and in 
lieu of the lands (herein after described) by such alterations of boundaries 
ex[c]luded other lands of equal extent assigned to the said band." The surrender 
itself says that the band be assigned other land of equal extent. The band being what 
is now Waywayseecappo First Nation. 

Presumably this is why the deparknent considered the band as one until the early 
1970's when the government changed how it treated the people at Gamblers. The 
surrender dealt with 30 sections of land, Waywayseecappo First Nation was left 39 
sections at its present location and three disappeared in the shuffle. The majority of 
the 30 sections that Waywayseeappo Fin1 Nation was assigned al what is now Gam- 
blers was then surrendered without further notice to Waywayseecappa First Nation. 
These further surrenders directly aIfect the land base of Waywayseecappo First Nation 
because they dispose of land that belonged to the people of Waywayseecappo First 
Nation." 

Eventually, foUowing a meeting involving Commission counsel, Chief Clear- 
sky, and other members of the Band Council, it was agreed by Wdywaysee- 
cappo that the Commission could proceed without evidence or submissions 
from that First Nation subject to the following understandings set forth in a 
letter dated Januaty 27, 1998, from Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel, to 
the Chief and Council: 

the issues raised in [the Gamblers First Nation] inquiry, the historical evidence pro- 
vided, and the legal arguments made in support of this claim relate to the speciGc 
claim of the Gambler's First Nation only. The Commission's mandate is to inquire into 
the claim and make recommendations to the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern 
Development on whether the speciGc claim was properly rejected by Canada. The 
Commission will not make any decisions regarding h e  validity of any other potential 
claim by a First Nation unless we have been requested to do so. Nonetheless, 1 under- 
stand that there may be common historical facts and evidence between the Gambler's 
First Nation claim and any potential claim by the Waywayseecappa First Nation. 

Generally spealdng, the issues before the Commission relate to Canada's obligation 
to provide treaty land to the First Nations who adhered to Treaty 4 on September 21, 
1874 and whether that obligation was m a  with the selection and survey of lands in 
1877 at Birdrail [sic] Creek for the Fort EUice Band. There are only two specific 
issues before the Commission: (1) what is the appropriate date of first sumy? Is it 
1877 when lands were set aside at Birdrail [sic] Creek or is it 1883 when Gambler's 
Indian Reserve #83 was set aside? (2) what impact, if any, did the "surrender for 

I 1  Chief Murray Cleanky and Council. Wapmyseeeapyo Rrsl Nation, la Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel. 
Indim C h s  Commasiun. March 12, 1997 (ICC Gle 21%-09~1). 
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exchange" in 1881 have on the treaty land entitlement of the claimants? Regardless of 
whether the Commission recommends that the proper date of Erst survey is 1877 or 
1881, it has been agreed that the Commission will not be making any recommenda- 
tions on whether the Gambler's First Nation has an outstanding TLE shortfall and, if 
so, how much land is still owed because the parties have not completed the necessary 
paylist research and analysis. 

For the sake of clarification, it might be helpful to summarize the issues that are 
not before the Commission in this inquiry. First, it should be emphasized that neither 
Canada [nlor the Gambler's First Nation has challenged the validity of the 1881 "sur- 
render for exchange" so the Commission will not be making any findings on whether 
it was in compliance with the Crown's statutory or fiduciary obligations. Although it 
will be assumed to be valid for the purposes of addressing the issues in this inquiry, 
this is without prejudice to the Waywayseecappo First Nation and it would not pre- 
clude you from submitting a claim alleging that the 1881 surrender was invalid. Sec- 
ond, the Commission will not be maldng any hdings on whether an outstanding TLE 
shortfall exists and, if so, who would be entitled to the s h o r W  acreage. Third, we are 
not considering whether there is a valid claim in relation to the approximately 3 
square miles thal were not accounted for alter the "surrender for exchange" was 
completed and, if so, who is entitled to seek compensation for such a claim. Finally, 
we are not considefig whether any subsequent band splits or surrenders of reserve 
land have any bearing on the potential claims of the First Nations. Therefore, this 
would not preclude the Waywayseecappo First Nation from submitting a claim in rela- 
tion to any of the above issues. 

In view of the above, the Commission would be prepared to explicitly slate in its 
Enal report that the hdings and recommendations made by the Commission are 
expressly limited to the speciOc claim of the Gambler's First Nation and are without 
prejudice to any claim or claims that the Waywayseecappo First Nation has or may 
have regarding the land set aside at Birdtail [sic] Creek for the adherents to Treaty 4. 
Furthermore, the findings and recommendations of the Commission will be subject to 
the understanding iha( we have not received submissions from the Waywayseecappo 
First Nation. When the Commission has issued its report, a copy of it will be provided 
to you for your consideration and if you have any concerns regarding the hdings and 
recommendations of the Commission, it would be open for the Waywayseecappo First 
Nation to submit its own claim and submissions in relation to any of Ule historical or 
legal issues addressed in that report.12 

The Commissioners hereby acknowledge and incorporate the foregoing 
understanding as part of this report. 

We now turn to the factual background to the claim. 

12 Ron S Maurice, Cammesion Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, lo Chief Murray Clearsky and Council, 
Waywdpeecappo First Naion, January 27. 1998. 



PART I1 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The historical evidence related to the Gamblers First Nation's claim, reviewed 
in this Part, includes several volumes of documentary evidence and the testi- 
mony provided by members of the Gamblers First Nation at a community 
session on November 5, 19%. The Commission also considered the written 
submissions of the First Nation and Canada in addition to hearing oral sub- 
missions from legal counsel for the parties on November 6, 1996. 

TREATY 4 - QU'APPELLE LAKES 

In the summer of 1874, Alexander Morris, David Laird, and W.J. ChristieL3 
were appointed Commissioners to negotiate Treaty 4 with the Cree and 
Saulteaux Indians inhabiting an area of roughly 75,000 square miles lying 
west of the territory covered by Treaty 2 and situated between the United 
StatesICanada boundary to the south and the Saskatchewan River to the 
north.14 Fort Qu'Appelle was selected as a "convenient centre" for the negoti- 
ations," and the Commissioners arrived there on September 8, 1874. Already 
gathered were Crees from various localities within the Treaty 4 area, as well 
as Saulteaux from Fort Pelly, Cypress Hills, Fort Ellice, and Qu'Appelle Lakes. 

I3 At the time of the treaty negoliauons, Alexander Morris was the Lieuleoant Covernor of the Nod-West Territa- 
ries, David Laird was the feded Miluster oflhe lnletior m the Liberal gowmmenl d Alexander Mackenne, and 
WJ Christie of Brockville, Onwrio, wu a retired Hudson's Bay Company factor "and a gentleman ol large 
experience among the Indian tribes." Alexmder Marrh, Tbe Trealies o/CaMda ulilb lbe Indians ofMani- 
lobo ond the Norlb-West TemmIon'es (Toronto: BeUords. Clarke & Ca., 1880; reprinted Saskatoon: Fihh House 
Publishers. 1990 [hereafter Morns. Treolier ofGznadal. 78. 

14 Order in Council PC 944, July 23. 1874, provides the general desenpdon for the area lo be ceded; Order in 
Council PC 1332, November 4. 1876, refers lo the appoinunea ofthe Cammiss$onen. Bolh are found in Tmafy 
No 4 k l m n  HerMajes(y tbeQuen ondlbe C m  and Saulfealu. Ih'hes ojlndinnr a1 QuXppeNe and For1 
Elice (Ooawa: Queen's Ptinrer, 1966), 3. 

I 5  Morns, Treaties o/Gznada ,78. 



Upon his arrival in Qu'AppeUe, Morris called upon the assembled Indians 
to identlfy the people who could speak for them.16 According to this account 
of Morris's opening remarks, he said: 

"[To the Crees] . . .We want to speak to you about the land and what the Queen is 
willing to do for you, but before we tell you, we want you to tell us, who your Chiefs 
and headmen are who wil l  speak for you, while we speak for the Queen, and we want 
lo know what bands of Crees are here and who will speak for them. . . ." 

To the Saulleaux His Honor said: ". . . If you and your Chiefs will meet together in  
council and talk i l  over we will be glad to meet you, if you bring your Chief [Cote] to- 
morrow. You must also choose your speakers who wiU come with your Chief and 
speak for you."" 

On September 9, 1874, Morris repeated his request that the assembly 
name its speakers. Can-a-ha-cha-pew, the Man of the Bow, replied that they 
were not ready, but "Peicheto's son, 0-ta-ha-o-man, the Gambler" arose and 
addressed the crowd: "My dear friends, do you want me to speak for you to 
these great men?'and '"he Indians signified their consent."18 On the fourth 
day of the proceedings, both Cote, referred to by Commission Secretary M.G. 
Dickieson as "a leading Chief of the Saulteaux tribe" from Fort P ~ U Y , ~ ~  and 
Loud Voice, considered by Morris to he the "principal Chief" of the Crees,2o 
indicated that the Gambler would speak on their behalf.21 

Throughout the fourth and fifth days of the conference, the Gambler was 
virtually the only Indian speaker, but he insisted that they could not consider 
the terms of a treaty until the Indians' complaints about the Hudson's Bay 
Company were dealt with. Morris countered that he could not deal with Com- 
pany matters, and was only there to discuss a treaty. It was not until the sixth 

16 This formality of asking the Indians to name their Chiefs started *11 the negotiation of T r e g  1 in 1871, at 
which Lieutenant Cavernor Archibald sought to avoid same of the problems that had x i sen  out of the Selkirk 
Treay: 

At the time of the treaty with the Earl of Selkirk, cenvn Indians signed as Chi& and representatives of their 
people. Some of he Indians now deny that these men ever were Chiefs or had authority to sign the treaty. 

With a vim therefore to avoid a recurrence of any such question, we asked the Indianians, as a fin1 nep, to 
agree mong themselves in selecting the~r Chiefs, and then to present them to us and have their nmes  
recanled. 

Adms G. Archibald, Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba, to Joseph Howe, Secreraw of Srate, July 29, 1871, in 
Morris, Tmafies of Cnnada, 33.  

17 Morris. TmuIies of Ckrada, 88-89. 
18 Moms, Tm#lies oJCanada, 90. 
19 Morrk, Treaties ofCanada, 87. 
20 Alexander Morris, Lieutenant Governor. NWT. lo Sec rew of Slate for the Provinces. October 17. 1874. in 

Moms. Tmaties of Gznada. 80. 
21 Morris, Twlier of Canada, 97 and 110 
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and final day of the negotiations that the terms of a treaty agreement were 
discussed, and on that day the Gambler was silent.2z 

In later years, Morris would refer to the Gambler as "the chief spokes- 
man" at Qu'AppeUe?) but it appears that he did not participate at the confer- 
ence as a chief. At one point during the negotiations, the Gambler pointed to 
someone else and said, "This is my chief."" Yet, the following day, he told 
Morris that "we have not chosen our Chiefs; we have not appointed our 
soldiers and c~unciUors."~~ Once agreement on terms was reached, the Gam- 
bler was not brought forward as a Chief and did not sign the Treaty 4 
document. 

TREATY 4 - FORT ELLICE ADHESION 

In the fall of 1873, a group of Indians at Fort Ellice, maintaining that they 
had not been party to any treaty, had complained to Lieutenant Governor 
Morris about survey work in progress on their lands. The petition, signed by 
"Wah-wa-shi-cabow" (Waywayseecappo) and three others, defined the land 
which they claimed to occupy: 

We the undersigned Saulteaux Indians at Fort Elice, having seen a surveyor here 
marking out & posting off land, wish to inform Your tlonour that we have never been 
a party to any Treaty already made to extinguish our title to land which we claim as 
ours, from Shoal take, on Oak River, weshvard to ten miles west of Fort Ellice, and 
therefore, cannot understand why this land should be surveyed. 
We are &c 

Wah-wa-shi-cabow x 
Kisak-ka-zick x 
Kannskagunin x 
Shdpuy-witunk xA" 

Most of the land identified in the petition was included in the territory ceded 
under Treaty 2 in August 1871. In that treaty, five chiefs - including "Mekis 

22 Morris, Trealier of Cotwda, 87-125. 
a3 Alexander Morris to Minisler of the Inteiior, July 8 ,  1876. and December 4. 1876. in Morris, Treaties of 

Canah. 142 and 187. 
a4  Morris, Treaties of Caw&, 104 The Gambler was probably referring to Core as "Chi$' in this instance. Cote 

war rhe only Saulleaux Chief iden&-d at the negotiations, snd it ts know that he Gambler traded around Fafl 
P ~ U V  where Cote resided. 

15 ~o; r i s ,  Treaties of Canado. 114. 
16 Pealon, October l I ,  1873 (ICC FxhibB 2, p. I 1  This documents transcribed u pp. 1-2 of Treaty& Aborigind 

Rights Research Program, Rur Nations Confedenq  "Wayvayseecappo I R .  No. 62, Gambler's I.R. No 63 and 
Rolling River I.R. No 67  Tray Land Entitlement Repon," May 1981 (ICC Exhibit 2) .  b y  words no1 legible on 
the copy of the ari@nd are taken from the tnnscriptian. 



[Michis] (the Eagle), or Giroux," who was identified as the Chief of "the 
Indians of Riding Mountain and Dauphin Lake and the remainder of the terri- 
tory hereby cedeC2' - claimed to represent the Indians in the area. How- 
ever, the Fort EUice Indians denied that they had given Mekis authority to 
speak for them and therefore did not consider themselves to be bound by the 
terms of Treaty 2. The Hudson's Bay Company trader in charge of the Swan 
River District seemed to agree: 

I have merely to report that the Fort Ellice Indians have not made any t ~ a t y  for their 
lands. The treaty made by Michis and his band (belonging to Riding Mountain) they 
do not recognize as binding on the Fort Ellice Indians as Michis had not authority to 
act in their names." 

Morris concluded that "[t] hese Indians were included in the boundaries of 
Treaty Number Two, but had not been treated with owing to their distance 
from Manitoba House, where that treaty was made."29 

Given these circumstances, it would have been usual to have the Fort EUice 
Saulteaux adhere to the treaty covering their traditional hunting grounds. 
However, the North West Angle Indians who signed Treaty 3 in October 1873 
received substantially more reserve land and annuities than had been negoti- 
ated in the previous treaties, and Morris may have felt that it would be impos- 
sible to convince the Fort Ellice Indians to accept the less favourable terms of 
Treaty 2. Instead, he invited them to go to Qu'Appelle in September 1874 to 
participate in the negotiation of Treaty 4. When they declined, Morris agreed 
to meet with them at Fort EUice on his returnJO 

Commissioners Laird and Morris arrived at Fort EUice on Saturday, Sep- 
tember 19, 1874, and met with the assembled Indians on Monday, Septem- 
ber 21. Not all the Indians of the Fort EUice area were present, but those in 
attendance agreed to accept the terms of the Qu'Appelle treaty: 

27 Tmaliies I and 2 behueen Her Majesly Ibe B e e n  and lbe Cbippewa and Cree Indiam of Maniloba and 
Counlry Adjam1 wilb Ahsions (Oltaw: Queen's Printer, 19571, 1 1  

28 Archibald McDonald, Tnder in charge ol Swan River Dislriel. Hudson's Bay Company, lo Alexmder Morris, 
Lieulenanl Governor of Nonh.Wesr Terrilocies, June 6, 1874, Narional Archives of Canada (hereafter NA). RG 
10, val. 3610, Me 3539 (ICC Documens. p. 3).  

29 Morris, Tr~alies o/Canada, 79; Alexander Morris. Iievtenal Governor, NWT, to Secreta~y of Slale for the 
Provinces. October 17. 1874, in Morns, Trenties of C m h ,  84-85. 

30 Alexznder Mords, Lieutenant Governor. NWT. to Secrelalv 01 Stale for the Provinces. Oclober 17. 1874. in 
Morns, Tmdies o f ~ a n a h ,  84 (see &o 98). 
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On Monday we met the Band of Saulteaux Indians, who make their headquarters 
at Fon Ellice, and who have remained there, instead of going to Qu'AppeUe at our 
request. 

This Band have been in the habit of migrating between the region covered by the 
Second Treaty and that comprehended by the Fourth, but had not been treated with. 

We proposed to them to give their adhesion to the Qu'AppeUe Treaty, and surren- 
der their claim to lands, wherever situated, in the North-West Territories, on being 
given a reserve and being granted the terms on which the twaty in question was 
made. We explained fully these terms and asked the Indians to present to us their 
Chief and headmen. As some of the band were absent, whom the Indians desired to 
be recognized as headmen, only the Chief and one headman were presented. These, 
on behalf of the lndians accepted the terms and thanked the Queen and the Commis- 
sioners for their care of the Indian pe~ple.~' 

On the adhesion document, Waywayseecappo and headman Ota-ma-koo-ewin 
(also known as "Sha-pous-e-tung's-Erst Son" or "The Man Who Stands on 
the Earth) a x e d  their marks on behalf of the assembled Saulteaux. Long 
Claws was the only other Indian mentioned by name at the Fort E k e  meet- 
ing in 1874.32 

SELECIION AND SURVEY OF 
BIRD TAIL CREEK INDIAN RESERVE IN 1877 

Reserve sites were not defined at the negotiations in 1874, but Treaty 4 speci- 
fied that the bands would be consulted about location when reserves were 
surveyed: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to assign 
reserves for said Indians, such reserves to be selected by officers of Her MajesQ's 
C;overnment of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, ajer conference 

5 1  Alexander Morns. Lieutenant Governor, W .  to Secretan of Stale lor Be Provinces. October 17. 1874. In 
Morns, Tmalies of&nada, 84 

32 Treaty No. 4 belu'mn Her Majesty tbe Queen and rbe Cree and Saulteau*. Tn'bes of Indians at puXppUe 
andForf EUice (Otuwl: Queen's Printer. 1966). 9. The n o t e  @ken by M.G. Dickieson, the Cammislon Secre- 
taq, sute that a Chief and rwo headmen were presented, but the two names he recorded - "Om-ma-koo~euin" 
and "Shaponemng's Erst son" -were the two whkh the adhesion document later attributed lo the same man: 
Alexander Morns, Lieutenant Governor, NWT, to Secrelary of Slate for the Provinces, October 17, 1874, in 
\I;r<c<. Inlrltrs , . / . /c>~I)~J I l j  \:c,>rd~lt~ I >  ~ h r  p l ! l o ~ .  N I  Iwzdnl<n ncrr  pud urtn Uam~\werayyo n 
IS-# I lour\er  whdr (he 19'4 lqlr,rr 1,rond~n nln>rrf.,: !he Cht l$ ,  nr,~,. ol  lnc vthrr lnrmbPn u( me OJCL.~? 

nrr:  n . ~  e l  n a  nrcl.ad urrc mcrrlr ralrcorlleJ s H n l m a '  ,r Inn.3n' \mnllel :u.  Iron! the Id'; 
oavkls. it can be determined that lhLtwa men wid  as headmen in 1874 were 122 ~ t a - ~ a - K & - e w i n  and 123 
~ a k g e .  For Long Claws, see Morris. Treofies of anado. I24 
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with each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile 
for each family of five, or in thal proportion for larger or smder families." 

In an Order in Council dated July 9, 1875, W.J. Christie was appointed, 
together with "such other person as may be named for that purpose by the 
Minister of the Interior," to return to Fort Ellice and Qu'Appelle to obtain 
adhesions to Treaty 4 from bands absent the previous year, to pay annuities, 
and to meet with the bands to select reserves 

where they shall be deemed most convenient and advantageous for the Indians, each 
Reserve to be selected as provided by the Treaty ajer  conference with the Band of 
Indians interested therein, and subject to the other conditions set forth in the 
Treaty." 

With regard to the last of these duties, Depuy Minister of the Interior E.A. 
Meredith provided the following additional instructions to Christie: 

I. hs regards the selection of the Reserves 
Each Reserve should be selected, as the Treaty requires, aher conference with the 

Band of Indians interested, and should, of course, be of the area provided by the 
Treaty. 

The Minister thinks that the Reserves should not be too numerous, and that, so far 
as may be practicable, as many of the Chiefs of Bands speaking one language, as will 
consent, should be grouped together on one Reserve. 

In connection with this part of your duties, I am desired to enclose for your 
information a copy of a memorandum and map prepared by the Surveyor General. 

The Minister desires me to inform you that he coincides with the views of the 
Surveyor General contained in that memo; I am to add (hat Mr. Wagner, the gen- 
tleman named in the memorandum will be instructed to place himself at your dispo- 
sal for the purpose of proceeding, with the Surveys of the Reserves as selected in the 
manner recommended by the Surveyor General.'i 

Christie was given additional suggestions regarding the selection of reserves 
by the Surveyor General, J.S. Dennis, who recommended that the surveys take 
place "as soon as possible after the location of the Reserves in question may 
be decided upon between the Commissioner and the Indians," but that in 
locating the reserves the Commissioner should consider future settlement, 

33 Treary No. 4 belween Her MajeslJ the Queen and rbe Cree and Saulteaux Tribes of Indians at Qu.4ppUe 
and Fort Ellice (Ottawa: Queen's Printer. 1966). 6. Emphasis added. 

34 Order in Council, July 0, 1875, NA, RC 10, MI. 3622, file 5W7 (ICC Documents, p. 46). Emphasis added. 
35 EA.  Meredith, DepuIy Minisler, DepaNnenI of the Interior, to W.J. Christie. Treaty Commissioner. July 15. 

1875, NA, RC 10. vol. 3622, file 5004 (ICC Documents, pp. 57-58). 



the proposed route of the railway and both the agricultural and hunting 
needs of the Indians." Christie confirmed his instructions in a letter dated 
July 28, 1875, to Meredith: 

1. Selection of Reserves for Indians 
These will be as few in number as possible, and in locating them, every allention 

will be paid lo the suggestions made by the Minister of interior, as also in the memo- 
randum Furnished by the Surveyor General. As soon as the Erst Reserve has been 
decided on, probably with the Fon Ellice Indians, Mr. Wagner will be instructed to 
proceed with the Sulvey in the manner directed by the Surveyor General. With this 
object in view, he wiU likely accompany me to Fort Ellice.)' 

Christie, accompanied by Dickieson, who was also made a Commissioner 
to assist Christie, and surveyor William Wagner, arrived at Fort Ellice on the 
morning of August 24 and stayed until Sunday, August 29, 1875. Christie 
reported that the Indians at EUice had much to say, "the 'Gambler' from 
Qu'Appelle being the chief Orat0r."3~ In all, 357 Indians were paid on the 
paysheet headed "Wawasecapow's Band," including one chief, "Wawase- 
cappo," and four headmen, Pasqua, Ota-ma-koo-ewin, Savage, and the Gam- 
bler. A note states that 19 of the families listed (97 people) were paid at Fort 
Q~'AppeUe.'~ 

In his initial report of September 9, 1875, regarding this meeting, Christie 
stated that "[tlhe Chiefs at [Fort] EUice were not all decided as to the locality 
of their Reserves."@ However, in a subsequent report dated October 7, 1875, 
Christie and Dickieson indicated that the baud had chosen reserve locations. 
Part of the band wanted a reserve on the Qu'AppeUe River, some distance 
west of Fort EUice, while the rest of the band had chosen a site nearer to Fort 
Ellice, at the head of Bird Tail Creek: 

3 ,  ] i IJ?nna Surn,hrr t i~nrr~l  > I r m u i n n ~ . m , J u I ~  1;. 18.;. \t. HL lu $ 1 1  $I,?? r.11. id' ICC I l  CU(~.~!IL< 

pp .$.I Thl, memc rattldln uu brn.lrdr 1 l o r  h ~ i l  s In l a r d  \ Ilrpur) \I.nlsar t.1 Wcrtddl. c n lul, l i  
IA'i k . 4  McrcJnd~. D~pun .  Wjn.itcr, l J r l > m s t o l  l i  Cc I n l r n ~ ~ r .  I.  W J  I.lln,l~e JUA l i .  In'i hl' Ub.11. 

ments, p. 57). 
37 WJ. Christie, Indian Commissioner, Trealy 4, to Ed. Meredil. Drpuy Mivjster, Deplnment of the lnlerior, July 

28, 1875, NA, RC 10, vol. 3622, file 5W7 (ICC Documents. pp. 6 4 4 5 ) .  
38 W.J. Christie, Indian Commissioner, to EA, Meredilh, Depuy Mivjsler, Oepament  of [he Interior. Seplenlber 9, 

1875, Provincial Archives a1 Manitoba (hereafter PAM), MG 12, BI, Alexander Morris, Ueulenanl Governor's 
Cdlection. No. 1094 (1% Documents, p. 68). 

31 Treaty Annlury Paylisls, TreaN 4 (ICC Elhibil 12, tab 4, pp. 40-3). Sakimay is amung the people lvrted as paid al 
Fon Ute rather than Qu'AppeUe. 

40 W.J. Christie, Indian Comrnrslcaner, lo E.A. Meredith, Depuly Minister, Oepanmenl ofthe Interior, September 9. 
1875, PAM, MG 12, 81 ,  Alexander Morris, Lieulenanl Governor's C~Ueclion, No. 1094 (ICC Documents. P. 69). 



GAMBLERS F I R S T  N A T I O N  I N Q U I R Y  R E P O R T  

The question of Reserves has been carefully considered and long inteniews held 
with the Indians on the subject. Many of the Bands have no desire to settle and 
commence farming, and will not turn their anention to agriculiure until they are 
forced to do so on account of the Mure of their present meam of subsistence by the 
extermination of the B m o .  Others have commenced to farm already, although to a 
very slight extent, and wish to have their Reserves set apart as soon as possible. 
Instructions have been given to Mr. Wagner, D.L.S., to survey Reselves for the follow- 
ing bands which are included in this class, viz.: 

7. Wawaseecappo's Band (58 families) wants their Reserve at the head of the Bird 
Tail Creek, but as that locality is included in the limits of Trealy No. 2, no decision 
could be given until the Department had been consulted on the subject. A few families 
belonging to this Band have been settled for 9 or 10 years at the Round and Crmked 
lakes on the Qu'AppeUe River about 60 miles from Fort Ellice and as they have made 
considerable improvements there do not wish to be removed. As we saw no serious 
objection to this, their wishes were acceded to and instructions given to Mr. Wagner 
accordingly. There are 7 families living at these lakes!' 

Wagner was enthusiastic about the Bird Tail Creek location for a reserve: 

I left here in August 1875 and arrived with the Commissioners at Fort EUice, 
where, after paying the Indians, the Reserve for this tribe was chosen by them at the 
head of Bird Tail Creek. Doubts arose amongst the gentlemen of the Commission if 
the tribe could get their Reserve in a tract of land surrendered under Trealy No. 2 
since the Indians under the latter treaty have only 160 acres and the other 640 acres 
per family of five heads, it was therefore left for your decision. 

During this winter the reports of the gentleman entrusted with the Block north 
west of Riding Mountain towards Shell River, crossing with their lines the heads of 
Bird Tail Creek, will have been entered at your office and may corroborate my stale- 
ments expressed in my former report that they are covered with plenty of poplar, 
spruce and ramarac[kl, which easily can be brought down to the Prairie situated 
between the Riding Mountain and the Assiiboine River for the use of the settlers who 
will follow any railway brought through this tract of the country. 

The Fort EUice Indians numbering 65 families will probably choose the midst of 
the woods and occupy nearly 2 townships or 41600 acres. 

41 WJ. Christie and M.G. Dickieson, Indian Commissioners, to Minister of the Interior. October 7, 1875, PAM. MG 
12, BL, Akander Morris, Ueutenant Governor's Collection, No. 1102 (ICC Documents, p. 83). Wagner later 
reported that the reserve to be set apart at Qu'AppeUe would be headed by Sahmay (Mosquito): 

At the meeting of the Commissionerj and the Indim at Qu'AppeUe in 1875 it was decided that 7 famfies of 
the Fan Wce Band, under the head of one - Mosquito - should get their Reserve al the Qu'AppeUe Wer 
near Crooked ! A e  &ere they already are domiciled. 

W&am Wagner, Dominion Land Surveyor, to Minisler of the Inlerior, February 19, 1877, Nh RG 88, vol. 3W, 
file 0644 (ICC Documeots, p. 131). 
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Calculating that only a half wiU be used for timber and at the rate of 10 cords of 
Grewood and 200 feet of timber (board measure) per acre besides fencing, which I 
know is a low estimate, will give for the Resene, when grankd, 210,000 cords of 
Grewood and four % millions of Lumber sufficient to erect the buildings of 250 Set- 
tlers and keep them in wood for 12 years." 

As both Christie and Wagner recognized, Bird Tail Creek was situated in 
the area covered by Treaty 2, which provided for reserves of only 160 acres 
per family of five - one quarter of the 640 acres per family of five stipulated 
in Treaty 4. Since the Commissioners were uncertain whether a Treay 4 band 
should he permitted a reserve within the geographical limits of Treaty 2, 
Christie decided to refer the matter to the Minister for a decision.'$ In Octo- 
ber 1875, Morris, in his role as Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba and the 
North-West Territories, gave his opinion that the Band was "entitled to a 
Reserve of the extent mentioned in Treaty No. 4 and which may properly be 
given within the boundaries of No. 2."44 

Although the Minister of the Interior had not yet given his opinion on this 
issue, the question of reserve land for the Fort Ellice Indians was discussed 
with the Band in the summer and fall of 1876. In the week of August 3, 1876, 
Dickieson, Indian Agent Angus McKay, and Wagner were all present at Forl 
Ellice to pay annuities and discuss reserve selection. However, many of the 
Fort Ellice Indians were away, some on the prairie hunting buffalo and 
others, including the Gambler, at Fort Carlton to witness the negotiation of 
Treaty 6. In his reports, Wagner made only two brief references to the August 
meeting. In one he stated that "the chief was not prepared to show to me the 
Point of Commencement of the reserve, but he might be prepared [to do so] 
when I am finished at Qu'AppeUe River and then I shall also survey it during 
the winter."'( In the other he said that "the chief of Indians could not decide 
yet."4b According to Agent McKay's report on the proceedings, the Fort Ellice 
Indians were waiting the return of one of their headmen before locating their 
reserve: 

42 WiUim Wagner, Dominion Land Suwcyor, to Minister of the Lnlecior. January 2, 1876, NA, RG 88. vol. 300, fde 
0644 (ICC Documents, pp. 105-09.  

4) William Wagner, Dominion land Surveyor, lo Minlsler of the Lnrenor. January 2. 1876. NA. RG 88, ml. 3M), Cle 
0644 (ICC Dmaments, p. 106). 

44 Alexander Morris, Lieutenmt Governor, Manitoba m d  Nonh-West Territories, to Minister of the Interior. Octo- 
ber 23, 1875, PAM, tieutenmr Governor's CoUection, Letter Book J,  No. 303 (ICC Documents, p. 9 4 ) .  

45 William Wagner. Dominion Land Surveyor, to Minister of the Interior, October 1,  1876. N& RG 88. vol. 300, Gle 
0644 (ICC Documents, pp. 121-22). 

16 WiUiam Wagner, Dominion Land Sumyor. lo Minister ol ihe Interior. February 19, 1877. Nh RG 88. "01. 300, 
file 0644 (ICC Documents, p l32) .  
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I arrived at Forl EUice on the 2"Qugust and found a great many Indians already 
there. . . . Mr. Wagner had arrived on the Yd and on the 5U' he and I met the Indians 
at the Council tent and after a good deal of talking I learned from them that they did 
not wish their reserves surveyed for the present as one of their head men was 
absent. I then informed them that if such was the case, they would receive no cattle 
nor anytlung else except their rations, ammunition, hvine and tobacco as the treaty 
provided that until they had their reserves marked out and had stables and hay for the 
cattle they were not lo get any.. . . 

I will now proceed Lo deal with the subject of Bands & their reserves. . . . 
2". A small reserve has been already surveyed by Mr. Wagner for seven families of the 
Fort Ellice band [under Sakimay] on the North side of the Qu'AppeUe at the head of 
the Crooked Lake. These families have always lived and hunted there and have built a 
few houses, cultivated some land and are all living on their reserve. . . . 
19". Chief Wa-wa-zhe-ga-bow [Waywayseecappol or Standing in Readiness. This 
Indian is a Saulteaux as weU as all his band with the exception of two or three fami- 
lies who are half-breeds. They number 50 families including 7 [under Sakimay) who 
have got their reserve on the Crcaked Lake on the QuZAppeUe river. The greater 
number of his Band roam on the Prairie hunting Buffalo and very little is done by any 
of them in the way of farming. Some of them have houses but very few cattle and this 
band for masons already stated did not point out the spot where they desired 
their resetue. . . ." 

According to the paylists, the only headman absent in 1876 was the Gambler, 
who received his annuity at Fort Carlton. 

With the Fort Ellice Band unwilling to commit to a reserve location, Wag- 
ner left to complete a number of surveys for other Treaty 4 bands. Finally, on 
his way to Fort Pelly in mid-December, Wagner stopped again at Fort Ellice to 
see if the Band was prepared to identify the preferred location for its reserve 
lands. However, nothing had changed, a situation that Wagner attributed 
directly to the Gambler: 

At EUice, the Chief of Indians could not decide yet . . . in passing [I] tried the Chief of 
Fort EUice Indians but of [sic] no avail. There are several houses where the chief 
lives, they keep cattle, have gardens and yet they are tampered with by the intrigues of 
one man - die [Glambler - who hopes perhaps to gel someth~ng more adian~ageous 
uul uf he Cd)vemmcnt. hul since Mr \IcKav 1s wmin~ed Aeenl it mdv br exoec~ed he . .. 
wiU explain his "[~]&nbler" his situation properly,dR 

" 

17 Angus Mcffiy la Superintendent General of Indian NTain, October 14, 1876, NA, RG 10, vol. 3642, fde 7181 
(ICC W b i t  12, vol. 2, tab 25, pp. 10. 12, 30-31, 48). Fmphasis added. 

48 WUiam Wagner, Daminion Land Surveyor, to Minister of the interior, February 19, 1877, NA, RG 88, wl. 3W, 
f ie  0644 (ICC Documents, p. 136). 
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In October 1876, David Laird resigned as Minister of the Interior 
to assume new duties as the first Lieutenant Governor of the North-West 
Territories. In December, he was given the additional appointment of Indian 
Superintendent for the region, and M.G. Dickieson was named his assistant. 
Writing from his headquarters at Swan River in May 1877, Iaird reported that 
he had interviewed the Chiefs and headmen of three bands, including 
Waywayseecappo's, about the location of their reserves. He agreed with 
Morris that the selection of land by Waywayseecappo at the head of Bird Tail 
Creek should be approved notwithstanding its location within Treaty 2 terri- 
tory, and asked that the government's decision be conveyed to him: 

Since my arrival here, I have had interviews with the Chiefs and principal men of 
three Indian Bands under the above Treaty, the location of whose Reserves has not yet 
been decided. You will find the Reserves of these Bands referred to in Messrs. Christie 
and Dickieson's report, page xxv of the Departmental Report of 1875. 

The delay in locating the Reserves of these Bands has been caused by disagree- 
ment among their members in making a selection. They appear to have settled their 
disputes and expressed to me that they wish their Reserves to be located as follows: 

1. 'Wawasecappo's, or the Fort Ellice Band.' Their selection is pretty much as 
mentioned in Messrs. Christie and Dickieson's report [of October 7, 18751. They 
desire a Reselve to be surveyed for them at the head of Bird Tail Creek, on the road 
leading from Swan lake via Shell River, used by the North West Mounted Police in 
travelling to Swan River Barracks. The site is about 24 miles from Shoal Lake, and 
about 36 miles from the mouth of the Shell River. They would prefer to have the 
Reserve on both sides of the Bird Tad Creek, but will, I trust, be content to have it all 
on the West side. 

I know of only two objections to this selection - Grst, that it is within the limits of 
Treaty 2; secondly, that it is in Territory covered by the Block Surveys. The former 
objection, I consider of no weight, as the Government must give the granting of land 
somewhere in the Territories. The second in my opinion should not be urged. The 
Townships there, as I understand, have not been sub-divided, consequently if a 
Reserve were surveyed within the Block limits, the sub-division need never take place, 
so far as the area of the Reserve is considered. . . . 

It is vely desirable that I should be informed whether or not the location of these 
Reserves is approved hy the Government, in order that the Bands may be notilied at 
the t i e  of this summer's annuity payments. If approved they ought also to be sur- 
veyed as soon as possible!] 

Sumeyor General Dennis agreed with Laird's recommendation. David Mills, 
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, approved the location of the 

49 Daid Laird, Lieutenanr Governor and Indian Superintendent of the Noah-We1 Ternlones, lo Mlnbter of the 
Interior, May 9, 1877, N& RG 10, vol. 3649, Ole 8187 (ICC Documents, pp. 141-44). 
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reserves as set out in Laird's report, and directed that they be surveyed.jo 
Instructions to conduct these surveys were evidently conveyed to Wagner on 
June 13, 1877." 

Wagner and his survey party arrived in Fort EUice later that month, after 
discussing various reserve surveys with Laird in Livingstone. Wagner's report 
on the survey of Waywayseecappo's reserve is brief, but it clearly indicates 
that the Chief and at least one other band member were actively involved in 
selecting the site: 

I then returned to Ehce where after several interviews with the For1 Ellice Chief, who 
sent a man with me to show to me the place and according to their wishes I have 
surveyed their Reserve. . . . I had made the Reserve 6 miles by 11% miles. . .i' 

Wagner's diary indicates that, on June 27 and 28, he met with Waywaysee- 
cappo, who was ill. The Chief appointed a guide to point out the desired 
area, and on June 29 Wagner left for Bird Tail Creek with the guide and 
interpreter. It is not clear whether the guide remained throughout the survey, 
but Wagner apparently had instructions to survey a particular area; he 
recorded on July 13 that the original eastern boundaq marked out by him 
did not include "the place wished for" and the following day he moved the 
boundary eastward: 

Wednesday 27"une 18771 - Met the Chief Wd-was-a-cappo or Fort EUice Chid. 
Thursday, 28O' - Meeting with Indians in the Chiefs Tent, who is very sick. R o b i d  

inte&n.~rr it HW agreed thx! 3 guide should stlow to mt.  what hev UUII (l ul!t.n.. 
l'ridav. 29" - Skirted ~ i t h  Indim Guide .md lnterprcter lo the Policc (:rossing of h e  

Bird Tail Creek. 
Saturday, 30L - Returned lo Ellice, two of my carts which were broken in the bad 

roads arrived. 
Monday, Znd day of July 1877 - Started for the survey with my party. 
Tuesday, 3'' - Travelling, arriving at the 5th Correction line. 
Wednesday, 4d' - Running Tdal line to see where the Crossing is situated - 140.00 

chs. 
Thursday, 5' - Prepared the South West Corner of Reserve, Thunderstorm begins at 2 

o'clock - 300.00 chs. . . . 

50 Dwid Mil5 Su ennlendenl General ot Indian Main, to J.S. Dennis, Surveyor General, June 4. 1877. Nh. RG 
10, vol. 3649. ile 8167 (ICC Documenis, p. 145). 

jl William Wagner, Dominion Land Surveyor, to Minisler olthe interior, August 23, 1877, NA, RG 88, vol. 300, We 
0644 (ICC Documenu, p. 146) 

52 William Wapner. Dominion Land Suwevor. to Mcnurter ofthe Interior. Aupust 23. 1877. Nh. ffi 88, MI. 300, frle 
0644 (ICCiocumenis, pp. 147-48) 



INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

Friday, 13" - Began the East boundacy, surveyed it for 150.00 chains when I found 
out that the place wished for was not in it. 

Saturday, 14h - Began [illegible] miles east of this line on Correction line and ran up 
240.00 chs.. . . 

Thursday, 26*' - Left Party to chain up Baseline and to h ish  that part of the East 
boundaly where I was intempted by Bird Tail Creek. 

Priday, 27" - Arrived at Ellice with one man to go to PeUy to see about the next 
Reselve. . . . 

Tuesday, 3IY - Arrived at PeUy, saw the Lt. Governor who told me that Hard Quill had 
settled at the Qu'AppeUe River and therefore not advisable to survey as bespoken 
last year. . . . 

Friday, 3d [August] - Arrived at Ellice. 
Monday, 6L August - My patty anives from the Reserve at Bird Tail Creek. The "Gam- 

bler" comes to me to have the houndaty changed." 

We wiU return to the details of the exchange that took place between the 
Gambler and Wagner below. For the moment, it is sufficient to state that the 
survey plan, completed in September 1877, showed 45,869 acres (71.67 
square miles) of "Fine undulating Prairie with Hayswamps and Poplar bluffs, 
Soil Class one" in Townships 19 and 20, ranges 25 and 26, west of the 
principal meridian.i4 Bird Tail Creek meanders through the eastern portion 
of the reserve, and there are ponds and lakes at various places throughout 
the reserve. 

Treaty 4 stipulated that the size of reserves would be determined accord- 
ing to a formula of one square mile for each family of five, "or in that pro- 
portion for larger or smaller families."55 At 71.67 square miles the Bird Tail 
Creek reserve provided enough land for 358 people. The Bird Tail Creek 
reserve is also known as Lizard Point Indian Reserve 62. 

INUIANS PAID UNDER CHIEF WAYWAYSEECAPPO AT FORT ELLICE 

Wagner did not indicate in his report how he determined the Fort Ellice 
Band's population for calculating the size of the reserve at Bird Tail Creek. 

$3 Willlam Wagner, Dominion Land Surveyor, "Dixry of Survep of Indian Treary No 4 lrom 19 Februdq 1877 to 
26 Februaly 1878: Janoaly 26. 1878 (ICC Exhibit 12, vol. 1. lab 3) 

ra Suney Plan CLSR 2949, "Wa Was A Cappo's Band, Bird Tail Creek, sumyed  during July 1877 by William 
Wqner,  O.L.S.. September 1877" (ICC Documenls, p. 150) Note Ihat the acreage reported does not appear to 
correspond with the survey plan The Indians luer  rmintarned that they were lo have 2 reserve of 12 "tiles by 6 
miles, which would rough1 correspond to the 71.67 square miles reported. However. the survey plan shows a 
reserve of I1 'h miles by gmlles - the figure used when the rpsem was surrendered for exchange m 1883 - 
which equals 69 square miles 

55 Treaty No 4 be/wem Herdlzjery :be meen and fbe Ctpe and (irulteam Tribes of Indians ol Qu'Appelle 
nnd For1 Ellice (Ottawa: Queen's Pcinter, 1966). 6. 
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The treaty annuity paylists indicated that 371 people were paid with 
Waywayseecappo at Fort Ellice in August 1877, and another 31 were absent 
but paid arrears when they returned in 1878 and 1879, for a total member- 
ship of 402.56 

However, as the Commission has remarked in its reports dealing with pre- 
vious treaty land entitlement inquiries, treaty annuity paylists were merely 
financial forms designed to account for the annuities paid to treaty Indians to 
meet Canada's obligations. Although the paylists record the names of heads 
of families and the number of people in each family, they were never 
intended to provide accurate census records and are not necessarily reliable 
indicators of band structures or the places of residence of individuals or 
groups. In the case of Waywayseecappo's paylist, the evidence shows that 
officials included people regardless of their known place of residence. In 
1881, four years after the survey of the Bird Tail Creek reserve, separate 
paylists were established for five groups previously paid together under 
Waywayseecappo at Fort Ellice: Waywayseecappo, Sakimay, South Quill, Rat- 
tlesnake, and the Gambler.'7 

There is evidence that three of these groups - Sakimay, South Quill, and 
Rattlesnake - had had houses and gardens at locations some distance from 
Fort Ellice for many years prior to the Treaty 4 negotiations, that they contin- 
ued to Live at these locations after the treaty, and that they could not be 
convinced to move to the Bird Tail Creek reserve. Sakimay had a reserve 
surveyed at Crooked Lake in 1876 and the other two groups were eventually 
recognized as distinct bands and received reserve land at their chosen loca- 
tions. There is no similar evidence relating to the Gambler before the Com- 
mission in this inquiry. The following provides a brief discussion of these 
groups and their relationship with the Waywayseecappo Band. 

Sakimay 
Sakimay, or the Mosquito, and his followers resided at Crooked Lake, about 
65 miles along the Qu'Appelle River west of Fort Ellice. From her research of 
Hudson's Bay Company records, Jaye Goossen of Manitoba's Department of 
Tourism, Historic Resources Branch, identified Mosquito as being "among 

54 Jim Gallo, Manager, Land Entitlement and Claims, Depanment of Indian Mairs, "Research Memorandum - 
Gamblers Band Treaty Land Entitlement; Januaw 31, 1997 (ICC Exhibit 12. vol. I. tab I. p. 14). 

57 On !be other pz$s& estlbbshed for these groups, each individull retained the same number as when paid with 
Wawyseecappo (i.e., No. 34 Waywayseecappa became No 34 Gamblen). No new Chiefs or headmen were 
crhated; two ofple four headmen were listed on Rartlesnake's paylist and the other two on Gambler's (T~eaty  
hnnuiry Payiists, 1880 and 1881, ICC Exhibit 2. pp. 251-66). In 1882 Rattlesnake combined Mth Gambler and 
did no( get a sepanre paylist again until 1893. 
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the Indians who enjoyed a regular trading arrangement at Fort Ellice in the 
1860s, coming in together annually from the plains to trade furs and provi- 
sion~"5~ Sakimay had asked the Commissioners in 1875 to have reserve land 
where he lived on the Qu'AppeUe River at Crooked Lake, and in August 1876 
Wagner and his crew surveyed a reserve of 4691 acres at that location. If 
Wagner had factored the Sakimay reserve into his calculations for the Bird 
Tail Creek reserve, the total acreage reserved would have been enough land 
for 395 people under the terms of treaty?' 

South Quill 
In June 1881, Alan McDonald, the Indian Agent for Treaty 4, reported that 
Sha-wa-ne-qua-nape ("South Quill") and his followers had been included in 
the allocation of reserve land for Wapayseecappo at Bird Tail Creek, but that 
they immediately afterwards began to ask for a separate reserve at Rolling 
River, about 45 miles east of Fort Ellice: 

Sha-wa-ne-qua-nape or "South Quill" has been a member of Way-way-see-cappo's 
 and (that is his name and those families who follow him were in the Pay sheet of 
that Chief) when I took charge of this Treaty. 

He as weU as Sakamey of the Crooked Lake always objected taking their presents 
with the Chief. In Sakamey's case, on account of a special Reserve having been 
granted to him, 1 gave his Powder, Shot &c and his provisions separately. In Sha-wa- 
ne-qua-nape's case, I always handed his presents to the Chief, but he and his party 
always spoke separately from the Chief, and took their payments immediately after. 

AU clle Indians who accepted the Terms of the Trealy at Fort EUice with the excep- 
tion of Sakamey with 1 think 15 families have had [illegible] miles square dotted to 
[them] in what is known as Way-way-[see-cappo's] Reserve on the Bird Tail Creek. 

For the last two years Sha-wd-ne-qua-nape and Ootah-ne-qua and "old blind 
[illegible]" of his party have asked for a Reserve at the Rolling River. I have always 
told them, I had not the power of granting them another Reserve and also I thought 
the land they were applying for was already taken by White man. 

Lf it could be arranged I would strongly recommend that he and his party of 17 
families or 78 souls be granted a special Reserve and get Way-way-see-cappo to sur- 
render the same extent of his. 

These Indians have not been on the best of terms with the Chief and I do not think 
they will settle down until an arrangement of this kind is come 1 0 . ~  

is N. Jaye Coowen, H l o n c  Resources Branch, Departmen1 of Taunsm, Mmiloba, "Indians of lhe Fon mice 
Re@an." March 1976, p. 20 (ICC Exhibit 2, p. 79) 

59 4691 acres for Sakimay 11 Crooked Lake + 45,869 acres for the "Fon EUice B a d  a Bird Tail 
Creek = 50,560 acres + the treaty lormula of 640 acres per b i l y  of five = 79 square miles x 5 people per 
square mile = sufEcienr land for 395 people. 

60 A. McDonald, Indian Agenc Treaq 4, EUice, NWl' lo Deparlmenl of Indian Hain, Ouaw. Onlario, June 26, 
1881, NA, RG 10, val 3754, fde 30848 (ICC Documenu. pp. 270~71). 
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A subsequent inquiry by A.J. Belch, the Dominion Land Agent at Birtle, Mani- 
toba, disclosed that South Quill and his followers had occupied the Rolling 
River area "as hunting grounds for fully fifty Indian Agent L.W. 
Herchmer endorsed Belch's having relayed in an earlier letter 
the comments of a "Frenchman (Treaty) who had Lived there for over 20 
years . . . that 'South Quill' when? he first made a Treaty with Gov. Morris, 
named the mouth of Rolling River, and the land along that stream for his 
Re~erve."~~ 

In August 1882, the Dominion government set apart approximately 12,000 
acres (18% square miles) for the band at Rolling River, although this reserve 
was not confirmed by Order in Council until September 22, 1893." An 
equivalent amount of land was not surrendered from Waywayseecappo's 
reserve as suggested by Agent McDonald in 1881. 

Rattlesnake 
Rattlesnake and his followers were counted among Waywayseecappo's follow- 
ers when land was set aside at Bird Tail Creek in 1877. As will be discussed 
at greater length below, they were also among the group of people associated 
with the Gambler who purported to surrender 32 square miles of land in the 
Bird Tail Creek reserve in 1881 for an equal amount at Silver Creek. Never- 
theless, Indian Commissioner Hayter Reed reported in December 1889 that a 
"considerable portion who although allowed for when that reserve [the Gam- 
bler's] was surveyed, were at the time residing at Valley River . . . and had 
been settled there continuously for some thirty years previo~sly."~~ Five years 
later, Canada surveyed an area of 18.25 square miles as IR 63A for Rattle- 
snake in the Valley River district between Riding and Duck Mountains, about 
120 miles northeast of Fort Ellice, including 15 square miles in exchange for 
an equivalent area which was apparently surrendered from the Gambler's 
reserve on September 15, 1892. The Commission makes no findings regard- 

61 AJ. Belch, Dominion Lands Agent, m, to A.M. Burgess, Secretaly, Depanment of  he Inlerior. Ollawa. Onlano 
p l y  13, 1882. N.4 RG 10, vol. 3754, file 30848 (ICC Documenls, p. 322). 

62 L.W. Herchmer, Indian hgenl, to A.M. Burgess. Seerelary, Department of the Interior, July 13, 1882. Nh RC 10, 
vol. 3754. file 30848 (ICC Documen&, p. 327). 

63 L.W. Herchmer, lndran Agent, to Supwintendent General of Indim AEaifajr$ October 24. 1881, M, RG 10, vol. 
3754. Me 30848 (ICC Documentr, pp. 210-91). 

64 J'un Gallo. Dtreclor. Trezties &Aboriginal Rights Research P r o g m ,  Four Nations Confederacy "Waywaysee- 
cappo I.R. No. 62. Gambler's I.R. No. 63 and Rofing River I.R. No. 67. Trmy Land Entidement Repon" May 6,  
1981 (ICC Exhibit 2, pp. 36-37). 

65 Hayter Reed, Indian Commissioner, lo Depuly Superintendem General of Indian Maim, December 11, 1889, 
NA, RG 10, vol. 6654, He 1 ~ - 3 - 1 - 1  (ICC Exhibit 12, vol. 2, tab 10, pp. 1-21, 
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ing the validity of this surrender or any other surrenders involving Gambler's 
reserve land. 

The Gambler 
The fourth group to receive a discrete paylist, and a separate reserve from 
Waywayseecappo, was led by the Gambler. Unlike the people associated with 
Sakimay, South QuiU, and Rattlesnake, however, there is no evidence that the 
Gambler and his fouowers lived at or occupied a particular location separate 
from Waywayseecappo before Treaty 4 in 1874 or the 1877 survey at Bird 
Tail Creek. According to research compiled by the First Nation, the Gambler 
was the eldest son of Peicheto, "a prosperous Indian trader and iduential 
sub-chief of the Portage Band during the 1850s and 60s"; he was also the 
grandson of John Tanner, a white captive of the Shawnee from Kentucky who 
had come to the Red River area with his adopted Ottawa mother, Netnokwa, 
and "grew up to be a much renowned hunter and Chief of one of the many 
Saulteaux Bands in the Red River country during the early 1 8 0 0 ~ . " ~  Jaye 
Goossen's study of Hudson's Bay Company records discloses that the Gam- 
bler "visited Fort EUice only infrequently, preferring to take most of his busi- 
ness to Fort P e u ~ . " ~ ~  According to the Gambler's own statement, he gathered 
Indians from the prairies to come to Fort EUice and join "our Chiet" 
Waywayseecappo: 

when Way-way-see-cappo was made Chief he gave me authority to go throughout all 
the plains, to collect all h e  Indians who belonged to Fort EUice to join this Band. I 
went out, and made as many as I saw, understand that they were invited to come and 
join our Chief, having collected three hundred persons, including those who were 
here before we held councils. . . 

Although the record is clear that the Gambler was a headman of Chief 
Waywayseecappo's Band in 1877, the Gambler's dissatisfaction with the sur- 
vey at Bird Tail Creek ultimately led to the proposal for a surrender for 
exchange of reserve land in 1881 to establish a separate reserve for the Gam- 
bler and his fouowers. 

~~- - -  

66 Jim Gallo. Director, Trtaues & Aboripnal Righu Research Prognm, Four Nations Confederaq, "Wawwe- 
capoo I.R. No. 62. Gambler's I.R. No. 63 aod RoUlnr River I.R. No. 67. Treaiy Land Enlidemen1 Repon." May 6 ,  
1981 (ICC Exhibit 2, p. 46 "1). 

67 N. laye Goossen, Historic Resources Branch, Depanment of Tourism, Manitoba, "Indians of the Fan Ute 
Region," March 1976, p. I9 (ICC Exhibit 2, 78). 

68 A. McDonald, indim Agent, Tmry 4, "Procee!;ngs of a Council of Way-wly-see-cappo's Band convened by the 
Clud and held in the Reserve, Bird Tail Creek," February 24, 1881 (ICC Documents. pp. 253-54) 



GAMBLER'S DISCONTENT WITH LOCATION OF BIRD TAIL CREEK 
RESERVE 

On July 28, 1877, Wagner left his crew to complete the Bird Tail Creek sur- 
vey while he made arrangements for subsequent surveys. On August 6, the 
same day that Wagner's survey party returned and joined him at his camp 
near Fort the Gambler visited him to express his concerns about the 
survey at the Bird Tail Creek reserve. In a progress report on the summer's 
survey work, Wagner noted: 

After having h i shed  I went into Camp near Fort EUice to wait for the arrival of White 
Bear. 

During his  lime, an Indian belonging to the Foa Ellice Band - the "Gambler" - 
came to me to ask me to resurvey their Reserve, their Chief having done without his 
approval. I had made the Reseme 6 miles by 11 '/I miles (69 square miles] but he 
wished it to be 4 miles by 18 miles [72 square miles] and have the Reserve shifled 3 
miles more East. 

Knowing the Gambler to be one of the most troublesome Indians in Treaty No. 4, 
who also went to Carleton last year to make trouble during the Treaty there, and he 
not being able to give me a good reason for the change I left it as I had done.n 

In December 1877, the Indian Agent for Treaty 4 also reported that Chief 
Waywayseecappo and his headmen were dissatisfied with the reserve and 
wanted something different than Wagner had set apart For the band: 

Wawaseecappo's Band have their Reserve on Bird Tail Creek, but he and his Head 
men are dissatisfied with some of the land included in it, what they want is to have 
their Reserve about forty miles long and FNO or three wide, which I informed them I 
did not think it will be allowed." 

Three months later, in a letter to the Surveyor General dated March 26, 
1878, Wagner provided additional details: 

69 WiUipm Wsgner, Dominion Land Surveyor, "Diary oE Surveys of Indian Treaty No. 4 from I9 February 1877 lo 
26 February 1878." January 26, 1878 (ICC Exhtbit 12. vol. 1, tab 3). 

70 W&am Wagner. Dominion Land Surveyor. lo Mi&ter of the Interior, Augusl23, 1877. Nh RG 88, wl. 300. fde 
0644 (ICC Documem, p. 148) 

71 A. MacDonald. Indian Agent, Trea$4. lo Depuq Miniaer of the mlerior, December 28. 1877. NA. ffi 10, MI. 
3654, Me 89W (ICC Documenvr, p. 155) I1 is of same inleresl lo note ha t ,  in lhe summer of 1876, Wagner 
had lo convince Musquilo6lldmay h a t  he would not survey a reserve of similv dimensions: 

His [Sakinlay'sl idea ai exlent of Resew differed mareridy with the reality (he wished lo have i t 4 0  miles 
along the River) but alter I had explained to him he sirnation and seeing me determined to go on with the 
work he yielded and was reasonable. 

WiUiam Wagner, Domlnion land Surveyor, to Minisler of the interior, February 19, 1877, Nh RG 88, vol. 300, 
file 0644 (ICC Documents, p. 133). 
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As regards to the Reserve for Wa-wa-see-capo at Bird Tail C ~ e k ,  plan of Reserve 
giwn by me to Mr. Whitcher UI September last, I beg to repeat again that I have laid 
out the Reserve according to the wishes of the chief, who sent his son in law with me, 
and the Government Interpreter - Robillard - was with us, but when one of the 
Councillors named Gambler returned he, probably to show me his influence, wished 
to move the Resetve 4 miles more West, to have it 4 miles wide and 18 miles long, 
which would have excluded all the improvements made by the Chief and his families. I 
proposed to him to move 4 miles East but would not give 18 miles in length, which he 
refused. Since then he leh word with Mr. A. McDonald at Fotl Ellice that they will be 
satisfied with a reserve 12 miles by 6 miles. I could not change it since Plan and field 
notes were entered - except 1 shall be empowered to do so by you." 

Mr Patrick Tanner stated at the community session that, in his opinion, the 
difficulty with the location of the Bird Tail Creek reserve arose because Wag- 
ner exceeded his authority in surveying the reserve: 

The surveyor Wagner, in my view did not Listen to the Indian people, or he did not 
listen to his bosses, or whatever, from Canada, whoever his boss was, because Gam- 
bler had selected, and Wagner pot it where he figured it should be. And it was agreed 
at the meeting that Gambler was lo select M s  reserve, not Wagner. It seems like 
Wagner went ahead and made decisions on his own." 

There is no further reference on the record to the dissatisfaction of the 
Gambler and his followers with the Bird Tail Creek reserve until November 
1880. At that time, Agent McDonald, apparently responding to correspon- 
dence concerning white settlers who had moved onto land in the southern 
portion of Wapayseecappo's reserve;* referred to Gambler's desire to relo- 
cate as a means of making the land available for the settlers. According to 
McDonald, Gambler and about 30 families had already moved and built 
houses at their new location: 

Your letter respecting the land taken up by the Sharmans on Wayayseecappo's 
Reserve has not been overlooked by me. lndians are to be handled dieerently from 

72 William Wa ner, Dominion Land Surveyor, 1oJ.S Dennis, Sunqor General, March 26, 1878, M, RG 88, MI 
300, file d% (ICC &bit 12, vol. 4. tab 31. on. 2-31, 

- 8  From the malrnal ~ u ~ P I L ~  ID B* I:~~lln.b).un, t l  15 LIII~O~~IIIIC 1 I 1.11 the rumplelc \ton d . u l  l h c ~  ,1.3en In 
It%+ Ilr)lsr H+?d 3dmrd  he supmntt-nde$\l C.orr~l u ~ t h  rd<,ren.~> 1. ~ h r  nmtv i me ,~.rrrn~lcrrd pdn . f 
Usurt-we-rlooo s Rwnr on lllrd Id Crprk. & I ,  la.rtn ,111 that Mr P~tttdn mval ~nnnctd I I t n i k  Ih* 
sukw & a olan"was hlrn~shed h ~ m  on wh~ch  was shewn whai changes tes would be desuabl~ lo make in he 
.n!rr<'\t ~l (i a cne requcu 01 i h ~  D~.plrtn~ent bf ln, lntcnur uho hxa I belle\+ prrmlllrd sume parur, IL rnkr 
lor hornr,sad L O  hl. ?ouch pjn 1.1 the Rwem & i t t e r ~ l o r ~  wshcJ d O r l h t ~  surrender LI lh l l  p n  ll3\1tr 
Reed. \clmnd Lshlam bod.%" Contmw~s,ncr, to S~pennt~nus~! l  b c n e r ~ l  of lntum uhn. . q n l  I I. IkX-1. \ A  RG 
I I 6 5 ,  I I I  ICC I>aculnene, py 3-6.'-, 



white men and I wished the application of the change to come from them. This has 
been the source of the delay. Another reason, the Chief is simple so I had to wait until 
1 met the Gambler, one of his headmen. He is with me just now and the whole dai r  
can be settled in this way. 

He and about 30 families have applied to be allowed to part from the Band and be 
allowed to take a Reserve. . . six by five miles north of Ellice, East side of the 
Assiniboine in Range 29 Township 18 commencing a little below a creek opposite the 
Red Deer Horn Creek as shown in map 1878. There are no settlers on it, but the 
Gambler and his party has [sic] six houses built on it. 

If this arrangement is agreeable to you, let me know as soon as possible, address- 
ing your letter to Fort Ellice as I will be here again in four or Gve weeks. 

Mr. Armstrong D.L.S. is at present subdividing in the Range & Township the Gam- 
bler wants and it will be advisable (after the Band in Council votes the surrender of 
Thirty square miles of their present Reserve) to survey this Resene. 

I strongly recommend this change as it wiU not only setlle the Shaman claim, but 
will also settle the mind. of discontented Indians, Indians who do not wish to remain 
with their present ChieE" 

Two months later, on February 1, 1881, the Minister of the Interior asked 
Indian Commissioner Edgar Dewdney to review the file "respecting certain 
lands taken up by the Sharman family of Chief 'Wayzeecappoe's' Reserve, 
Bird Tail Creek, and the desire of the 'Gambler,' one of the Chief's Council- 
lors to remove with 30 other families to a location 65 miles north of Enice, 
on the East side of the Assiniboine." Agent McDonald had telegraphed and 
was waiting at Swan River Barracks for a decision." After discussing the 
question with Inspector Wadsworth and reviewing a plan of the reserve, 
Dewdney recommended that 30 square miles be surrendered from the 
southern portion of Waywayseecappo's reserve. It was Dewdney's opinion 
that "the Indians will not be disturbed in their improvements, and the land 
claimed by 'Sharman' will be s~rrendered."~~ This letter was forwarded to 
McDonald on February 9, 1881, with advice that a surveyor would be 
instructed to contact him to identify the 32 square miles to be surrendered, 
as well as the land to be set apart as the Gambler's new reserve on the 
Assiniboine River.78 There is no apparent explanation in the record for the 

A. McDoaald, lnthan Agent, T r e q  4, to L. Vankoughnet, Deputy Superintendent General of India AITairs. 
November 21, 1880, N h  RC LO. vol. 6654. file 106A-3-1, mfm reel C-8045 (ICC Documents, pp 226-27). 
[Minister of the Lntetiorl to Edgar Dewdney, Indian Commissioner, February 1, 1881, N h  RC LO, vol. 6654. file 
!&A-3.1 (ICC Documenrs, pp. 228-29). McDonald's telegnm was not among the dacumenrs supplied to be 
h m m i r ~ i o n  "" 

77 Edgar Dewdney, Indian Commissioner, to Minister of the Interior, Februvy 2, 1881, NA, RC LO, vol. 6654. 6ie 
106A-3-1 (IU: Documents, pp. 230-31). 

78 (Miniler of the Interior1 la U. Col. A. McDonald, Indian Agent, February 9, 1881, NA. RG 10, vol. 6654, Tie 
I&-3-1 (ICC Documents, p. 232). 
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discrepancy between Dewdney's recommendation that 30 square miles be 
surrendered and the Minister's approval for a surrender of 32 square miles. 
At any rate, the Commission makes no findings or conclusions in regard to 
whether this discrepancy may constitute a valid basis for a separate claim. 

SURRENDER FOR EXCHANGE IN 1 8 8 1  

On February 24, 1881, Agent McDonald travelled to the Bird Tad Creek 
reserve at the invitation of Chief Waywayseecappo. He and an interpreter, 
Peter Hourie, met with 23 male members of the Band of "the full age of 
twenty-one years," who had assembled there expressly to discuss the propo- 
sal to surrender part of the reserve so that the Gambler and his followers 
could establish their own reserve. According to Wagner's account of the 
council meeting, the Gambler explained to one of the councillors why he had 
complained about Wagner's survey of Bird Tail Creek reserve in 1877: 

The Gambler answered, "You ask me the reason why I want to leave the Reseme, I 
wiU make you undersmd, my reason is this, when Way-way-see-cappo was made 
Chief he gave me authority to go throughout a l l  the plains, to collect all the Indians 
who belonged to Fort EUice to join this Band. 1 went out, and made as many as I saw, 
understand that they were invited to come and join our Chief, having collected three 
hundred persons, including those who were here before we held councils, when 1 
was choosen [sic] to select the place for our Reserve, this I did; it was also agreed 
that when the survey was made, I was to accompany the surveyor and show him what 
we wanted. At the time he came, I had other Important matters to attend to, so the 
Chiet took him to the place. It was not exactly the place 1 had selected. I was told 
before that the Reserve was to be 12 x 6 miles. The Reserve was to have been on both 
sides of Bird Tail Creek instead of which it was put three miles too far west. Out of the 
three hundred persons I had collected, a large number were dissatisfied with the 
Reserve. They said they would not work on the Reserve, as it did not suit them. I told 
them stop first, I will speak to the Chief, and let him know of this: some of the party 
who spoke to me as dissatisfied were, Savage, Headman, Pisqua, Head Man, b-!a- 
quash and Nev-(in. I told them the Chief and I made arrangements before that if any 
of the Band did not like to stop on the Reserve, we would let them go where they 
thought the[y] would do better. 

To the Chief did we not say that. - 
Answer yes we did say so. - 

I [the Gambler] then asked the Agent if we could not get another Reserve. 
I have not got the answer from the Agent yet, if we will be granted what we are 

asking for; and I do not like to be rehsed by the Band what I think will be allowed by 
the Government, so if it wiU suit the Chief, and the members of the Band in Council, 



we wiU give up to the Government Thirty-two (32) square miles of the south end of 
our Reserve. For my part I am willing.'9 

At tlus council, consistent with the Gambler's request and McDonald's 
instructions from the Minister of the Interior, the proposal was to surrender 
32 square miles, and the discussion about which part of the Bird Tail Creek 
reserve to surrender went well into the night. Dewdney's proposal to cut off 
the entire south part of the reserve "would have deprived the Band of nearly 
all their prairie lands"m and was rejected in a vote, by "a majority of one." 
McDonald in turn rejected the Band's counterproposal that the land be taken 
in a strip along the entire west side of the reserve, ostensibly because "it 
would destroy their Reserve" but perhaps because it would not have included 
the land claimed by the Sharman family. In the end, McDonald reported that 
the Band agreed to a compromise which included all the land east of Bird 
Tail Creek in the southern portion and the remainder from both the northern 
and southern boundaries of the reserve, for a tolal area of 32 square miles: 

On the vote being taken there was a majority of one, against giving up the south 
end. 

The Chief proposed giving up three (3) miles on the west side from north to 
south, which I told them I could not allow, as it would destroy their Reserve. 

I told the Band I regretted very much that they were unable to come to a settle- 
ment. If they would allow me, 1 would propose what portion of the Reserve I thought 
would be the best for them to surrender, but they must understand it rested with them 
altogether, viz. That portion of the Reserve east of Bird Tail Creek from the south 
boundary to within a mile or so of the Agency Farm making the Creek the eastern 
boundary of the Reserve south of the agency farm, what ever more is required to 
make up the 32 square miles is to be taken from the north end of the Reserve but not 
farther south than the northern boundaly of the agency Farm and should [there be1 
more required, then from the south end. 

As it was passed [sic] midnight and it would take more time to consider over my 
suggestion, I hoped they would give me an answer the next morning. 

After some lak amongst themselves, the Chief rose and said, the whole thing was 
settled. He said all the Band would surrender what I had proposed and that he and 
his Head men would sign the papers whenever required to do so. 

I cerclfy that this is a correct report of the pr~cess.~' 

79 A. McDonald. hdian Agent. Trw 4 .  "Proceedings of a Councd of Way-my-see-cappo's Band convened by the 
Chief and held in the Rereme. Bird Tdl C r e e c  Februav 24. 1881 (ICC Documen&. pp 254-55). 

80 A. McDonald, Indian $enG Treaty 4 ,  to L. Vankoughnet, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian ANass, 
February 28, 1851, NA, RG 10, wl.  6654, file 1m-3-1 (ICC Documenu, p. 257). 

81 A. McDonald, hdian Agent, T r e q  4, "Proceedings of a Council of Way-wy-see-clppo's Band convened by the 
Chief and held in h e  Resene, Bird Tail C r e e c  February 24, 1881 (ICC Docwnem, pp. 255-56). 
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Surrender No. 183 was signed at Fort Ellice by Wa-wa-se-capow 
(Waywayseecappo) , Oo-ta-ka-wenin (the Gambler), and Sauvage on March 7, 
1881. This document stated that the boundaries of the Bird Tail Creek 
reserve "on the north and east sides" should be altered so as to surrender a 
total of "30 square miles": 

Whereas, in fuffilment of the provisions of "certain articles of a Treaty" made and 
concluded at Qu'AppeUe, in the said Territories, bearing date the Beenth day of 
September, in the year 1874, known as the Qu'AppeUe Treaty No. 4, to which treaty 
the said Wa-wa-se-capow's Band became parties by an instrument in writing, dated 
and executed at Fort Ellice, in the said Territories, on the twenty-first day of Septem- 
ber aforesaid, certain lands in the said Territories, of which the lands hereinafter 
described form part, have been duly assigned as a reserve for the said band of 
In r l i~ns  ". 

.mrl tvherra5. binre ille il~sigomeal thrreoi ai doresaid it has h,en f~~und more 
convenlell! ;md lor UIC interests of the said Bud oi lr ldms I)~at the hun&ri~c of rl~r ~~~ ~ ~-~ 

said reserve on the north and east sides thereof should be altered, and in lieu of the 
lands (hereinafter described) by such alterations of boundaries excluded, other lands 
of equal extent assigned to the said Band. 

And whereas, at a meeting or council of the said Band, summoned for the pur- 
pose, according to their rules, and held on the twenty-fourth day of February, in the 
year 1881, at the said reserve, in the presence of Alan Macdonald [sic], Esquire, duly 
authorized to attend such council or meeting by the Superintendent-General of Indian 
AfIairs, pursuant to the requirements of section 37 of the Indian Act, 1880, the assent 
of the majority of the male members of the said Band of the full age of hventy-one 
years, for the surrender lo Her Majesty of the lands hereinafter described, has been 
given. 

Now KNOW m, thal we, the said Wa-wa-se-capow, Oo-ta-ka-wenin, and Sauvage, as 
Chief and Headmen as aforesaid, representing the said Band of Indians, and for and 
in the name of the said Band, for the object and purpose above set forth, do hereby 
release, surrender and yield up to Her Majesty, all that portion of the said reseme, as 
it now exis& and is defined, lying to the eastward of the Bird Tail Creek, extending 
from its southern boundary, nonhwards to a point from which a line drawn east and 
west will intersect the southern boundary of school section eleven of township hvenky, 
ranged hventy-five, west of the principal Meridian, and also so much of the northerly 
part of the said reseme, across the m e ,  as, with the portion thereof hereinbefore 
described, will when surveyed and measured, conlain in al l  thirty square miles. 

To hold the same to Her Majesty, Her heirs and assigns forever." 

The required allidavit, attesting that "the surrender hereto annexed has 
been assented to by the Band in the said surrender named at the council or 

82 Surrender No. 183, March 7, 1881 (ICC Documents, pp. 260, 264-66). 
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meeting of the said Band, as set forth in the said surrender," was sworn by 
McDonald and Waywayseecappo at Fort EUice before Hugh Richardson, a 
stipendiary magistrate for the North-West Territories?) The surrender was 
approved by Order in Council PC 654 dated April 27, 1881, which stated that 
the surrender covered "thirty sections of their Reserve on Bird Tail Creek, in 
consideration of another Reserve of equal area being assigned them at a 
more suitable point."* 

SURVEY OF LIZARD POINT AND SILVER CREEK RESERVES 

When surveyor John C. Nelson passed through Fort EUice in April 1882, the 
Gambler met him and urged him to go and mark out the boundaries of the 
reserve to be set apart for the Gambler and his followers. Nelson agreed to 
do so, if it was possible, but by the time horses were brought down to trans- 
port him to the site, the ice on the river was unsafe and Nelson did not 

The first survey of the surrendered portion of Waywayseecappo's reserve 
was performed by P.H. Dumais, Dominion Land Surveyor, in the summer or 
fall of 1882 under the direction of the Department of the Interior rather than 
the Department of Indian Affairs. Dumais reported that the part of the reserve 
east of Bird Tail Creek contained only 4% square miles and, if he had taken 
the balance of the 30 square miles entirely from the northerly part of the 
reserve "as per surrender," Indian houses and improvements would have 
been included. Because of this, the Chief had asked him to leave before the 
survey was completed and Dumais had c0mplied.8~ 

Dumais proposed to take land from both the north and south portions of 
the reserve so that the entire 30 square miles could be cut off without dis- 
turbing the Indian settlement. The Department of Indian Mairs initially 
objected to Dumais's proposal because it was not "in accordance with the 
deed of ~urrender."~' Instead, the Department elected to conduct its own 

83 Surrender No. 183, March 7, 1881 (ICC Documents, pp. 258, 260-61), 
84 Order in Council PC 654, April 27, 1881, NA, KG 2, series I, vol. 209, pl. 2 (ICC Documents, p 262). 
85 John C. Nelson, Dominion Land S u m o r ,  to Superintendent General of Indian Ahin. December 29, 1882. 

Canah hf iament ,  SessiomI ~oper,'1883, No. 5, "Repon of the Depamenl  of Indian Ahin for the Year 
Rnded z l e  nprpmhpr IRR2 " n 214 ~.~..~, ~ ..-, r .  

86 A. Russell, for the Surveyor General, to 1. Vankou hnet, Depuly Superintendent General of lndian Mairs, 
December 14. 1882, Nh KG 10, vol. 6654, f ie  1A.3 (ICC Documenls. p 338); John R. Hd,  Secretani. 
D e p m e n t  of the Interior, to 1. Vankoughnet. Deputy Superintendent General of lndim Main, February 13. 
1883, NA, RC 10, vol. 6654, fde 106A~3 (ICC Documenls. pp. 312-15). 

87 John R. Hd,  Secretary. Department of the interior, lo 1. ~ankiughnet .  Deputy Superintendent General of lndian 
AUairs, Fobmay 13, 1883, M, RG 10, "01. 6654, fde IOU-3 (IM: Documenm, p. 313); Ed&u D w d n q ,  Indian 
Commissioner, lo Superintendent General of Indian Ahin, Ottlwa, Pebruq 24, 1883, Nh RC 10, wl. 6654, 
file IOU-3 (ICC Docamenu, pp. 343-45). 
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survey and, in April 1883, A.W. Ponton, Dominion Land Surveyor, was 
instructed to go to Fort Ellice to mark off, among other projects within Treaty 
4 territory, the land surrendered by Waywayseecappo and the reserve to be 
set apart for the Gambler. For those two particular surveys, Ponton was to be 
"guided by the advice and instructions of Mr. Agent H e r ~ h m e r . " ~  

Ponton provided two reports of events related to the survey of the reserves 
at Bird Tail Creek and Silver Creek in the summer of 1883, one immediately 
after the survey and the other in his annual report. According to these 
reports, Ponton and Herchmer both went to the Bird Tail Creek reserve and 
met members of the Band. In the first report, Ponton described them as "the 
greater portion of the male population of the R e ~ e r v e , " ~ ~  whereas in the sec- 
ond report, he says that they "inteniewed the Chief, his head men, and sev- 
eral others of the Band."Yo The Chief and his followers believed that they had 
surrendered more land east of the Bird Tail Creek than was calculated in 
Dumais's survey. After hearing the Band's concerns, Ponton spent a difficult 
week resurveying the "tortuous" creek, impeded by high water and thick 
willows, "with no better result than further disclosing the intractable mood of 
the Band, and reproducing the oft reiterated, and indefinite statement 'there 
is not all the land left we are entitled to."'9' Following this first week of work, 
Ponton reported: 

The Indians then met  me to  decide what sections they would surrender ,  bu t  they were 
diss&Eed, claiming that the Reselve should have originally been twelve miles long 
and six miles wide and contain seventy two square miles, that thirty square miles then 
being deducted for the Gamblers band they would have forty two square miles left. 
The Reselve however being only eleven and o n e  half miles long they were l d t  only 
thirty-nine square miles. . . 

Because the Indians at ths  point refused to idenhfy the lands to be cut off 
their reserve until this matter could be settled, Ponton sent part of his crew 
under his assistant, Mr Haslet, to begin the survey of the Gambler's reserve, 
while Ponton and his remaining men went to the Oak River Sioux Reserve to 

8s John C. Nelson. Dominion Land Surveyor, to A.W. Ponton, Dominion land Surveyor, April 1, 1883 (1% Docu~ 
menu, p. .Ma). 

89 A.W. Ponron, Dominion Land Surveyor, ro Edgar Dewdney. hdian Commissioner, July 13. 1883, M, RG 10, vol, 
7770, Me 27117-3, m h  reel C-I2056 (ICC Documenls, p. 357). 

go A.W. Ponton, Dominion land S u ~ e y o r ,  to John C. Nelson. Dominion Land Surveyor, February 25, I884 (ICC 
Documents, p. 369). 

91 A.W. Ponton, Dominion Land Surveyor, to John C. Nelson, Dominion Land Surveyor, February 25, 1884, NA, RG 
10, vol. 3680, file 12249, mhn reel C-10119 (IK Documenrs, p. 369). 

92 A.W. Ponton, Dominion Land Sn~veyor, to Edgar Dewdney, Indian Commissioner, July 13. 1883, NA. RG 10, vol. 
7770, Gle 27117.3, mlm reel C-12056 (ICC Documenu, p. 358). 
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settle a boundary dispute. Haslet established the south and east boundaries of 
the Gambler's reserve, but was forced to await Ponton's return on June 10 to 
verify the north boundary, since Herchmer had not provided any instructions 
on this matter. After going to Birtle to obtain a list of sections from the 
Dominion Lands Office, Ponton returned and completed the survey of the 
Gambler's reserve.93 According to Order in Council PC 1151 dated May 17, 
1889, which confirmed a large number of reserves in Manitoba and the 
North-West Territories, Ponton surveyed IR 63, containing 30 square miles 
on the east side of the Assinihoine River at Silver Creek about nine miles 
north of Fort Ellice, in June 1883 for 44 families under the Gambler.94 

Upon Ponton's completion of the Gambler's survey, Herchmer told him 
that the Waywayseecappo Band "had decided to give up the southern portion 
of their reserve."9i Ponton completed the survey at Waywayseecappo in July 
1883, taking the land east of Bird Tail Creek and 18 sections from the north 
part of the reserve, as specified in the 1881 surrender, and the remainder of 
the land to total 30 square miles from the southern portion of the reserve.% 
According to Order in Council PC 1151, the reserve, renamed Lizard Point IR 
62, contained 39 square miles on Bird Tail Creek about 15 miles northeast 
of Birtle, and was surveyed for 26 families under Waywayseecappo?' Ponton 
described the revised reserve in these terms: 

The soil throughoul the reserve is generally a black loam, of first-class quality. In the 
southern and western portions there are numerous ponds, lakes and hay meadows. 
There is a sufficiency of firewood everywhere in this reserve. Timber fit for building 
purposes occurs in small quantities throughout, and in larger quantities in the neigh- 
borhood of i!s northern boundary. There is a large lake with partially wooded shores 
near the centre of the reserve. Its area is about two square miles, and it is said to 
contain fish. Wild ducks abound.98 

93 AN. Ponton, Dominion Land Surveyor, laJohn C. Nelson, Dominion Land Surveyor, February 25, 1884, N4 RC 
lo,  vol. 3680, fie 12249, mfm reel C-I0119 (ICC Documenu, pp. 369-70). 

94 Order in Council PC 1151, May 17, 1889, NA, RC 2, series 1 (ICC Wlibit 12, vol 3, tab 26, pp. 12-13), 
91 A.W. Ponton, Dominion Land Surveyor, lo Edgar Dewdney. Indm Commissioner. July 13. 1883 (ICC Docu- 

menls, pp. 358-59). 
16 "Wayyseecappo's Band Reserve No. 62 - Lizard Point" (ICC Exhibit 8); 'Treary No. 2, Way-my-see-capo's 

Band, lizard Point. No. 62," Plm of Survey, Indian haairs Survey Records No. 47 (ICC Documenu, p. 373). 
97 Order in Council PC 1151, May 17, 1889, NA, RG 2, series I (ICC Wlibit 12, uol. 3, tab 26. pp. 10-11). 
98 A.W. Panton, Dominion Land Surveyor, "Indian Reserve No. 62." NA, RG 2, series 1, vol. 419iDiANLl file 

501/30-1-33-1, uol I (ICC Documenu, pp. 352-53). 





Hayter Reed, at that time the Acting Assistant Indian Commissioner, 
observed that 

the part cut off by him [Ponton] differs slightly in shape from that cut off by M. 
Dumais, & I am of the opinion &at Mr. Ponton's survey is the more desirable of the 
two as he followed the Section lines &legal subdivision boundaries, unless indeed the 
White Settlers have been permitted to enter the south parts of Sections 16, 17, & 18, 
TIownshilp 19, Rlangel 25 from which it appears by the sketch that M. Dumais cut a 
narrow strip.Y9 

THE GAMBLER'S DlSCONTENT WITH THE SILVER CREEK RESERVE 

Neither of Ponton's two reports referring to the survey of the reserve at Silver 
Creek mentions any consultation with the Gambler or band members about 
the specific location of the reserve or the presence of any band members 
during the actual survey. His final report does give his opinion of the advan- 
tages in the site: 

'The Its alluvial soil of very best quality, its rolling and open 
aspect, the facilities for continuous ploughing in all directions, the quantity and 
quality of its timber in the waUey of the Silver Creek which almost evenly intersects 
the R e s e ~ e ,  and possesses good water power, gives it advantages over any other 
reserve visited by me. The men are part of 'Way-way-see-capas', and in their charac- 
teristics very similar to the men of that Band. At the time of my visit, only a small 
portion of the Reserve was under cultivation, but land was under [process ]of break- 
ing up, and I doubt not that ere long good accounts will be rendered of this 
Rese~e.'" 

It should be noted that, in relation to the availability of timber on the reserve, 
Ponton's report is inconsistent with the official description of the reserve 
filed with the plan for IR 63: 

The reserve generally is high-rolling prairie, interspersed with poplar bluffs of small 
sized timber from two to four inches in diameter. The soil is a black loam with 
gravelly ridges, and, with the exception of the valley of Silver Creek, can be almost all 
cultivated. It is much cut up by the d e y  of the Silver Creek and lateral coultks 
running into it. The best land is found on the northern part a short distance from the 
Manitoba and Nofih-Western Railway. Swne usejifulpb timber is still found in 

99 Hayleer Reed, Actin k i s m t  Indian Commissioner, to Superintendent General of Indian Ailaim, Apnl 14. 1884, 
m, RG lo,  vai. d54, 1 0 6 ~ - 3  (Ice Documem, p. 377). 

lw A.W. Ponton, Dominion Land Surveyor, to J.C. Nelson, Dominion Lvld Surwyor, February 25. 1884, NA, RG 10. 
vol. 3679, fde 12249 (reproduced in p m  at ICC Documem, p. 371). Emphvis added. 
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the ualky of Siloer Creek, but most of it has been killed by fires. On the slope to 
the Assiniboine scattered scrub oak was observed, useful in h e  manufacture of small 
implements. The timber supply is hardly suflcient for the indian~.'~' 

In his September 1884 report, T.P. Wadsworth, the agency and farm 
inspector for the Department of Indian Affairs, described in some detail the 
well-furnished houses and the 60 acres of cleared and cropped land of two 
members of the band, 0-gah-mah and Thomas Tanner. He stated that six 
band members were actively planting crops and raising livestock and were 
doing very well at both, while other Indians had earned "a good deal of 
money" working on the railway. From Wadsworth's perspective, "this part of 
Waywayseecappo's Band, which was allowed to break away from the band 
and settle here in 1880, has done exceedingly well, and is living in 
comfort."L0z 

However, Wadsworth also indicated that the band was not entirely happy 
with the reserve. It complained "that the present area is not sufficient nor in 
compliance with the terms of the treaty" and, despite Ponton's favourable 
estimation of the quantity and quality of timber on the reserve, that there was 
not enough wood on the reserve as sumeyed.lo3 The band asked for the 
reserve to be extended to the west side of the Assiniboine River where there 
was "plenty of timber" and "as yet . . . no settlers upon the land asked 
for."lM Similarly, in 1886, Acting Indian Agent J.A. Markle reported com- 
plaints that the reserve was deficient in both wood and hay land, and he 
considered various solutions including surrendering land for exchange, 
granting the band a woodlot, or uniting Waywayseecappo, the Gambler, and 
South Quill on one reserve: 

I informed them that [it] was my opinion the Department would object to enlarge the 
Reserve, but if hey would agree to surrender an equal quantity of land for hay and 
wood land, that the Department would grant their request if possible. This hey agreed 

101 A.W. Ponton, Domlnion h d  Suweyor, "lndian Resew No. 63." NA, RC 2, series 1, "01. 419 1 DUND Tie 
501f30-1-33-1, vol. 1 (IU: Documenls, p. 355). Emphasis added. 

lo2 T P  Wadswonh, hspeetor, lndian Agencies and Fanns, to Superintendent General of Indian Main, September 
17. 1884, Canada, Parliunenl. Ses~ionol I'apers, 1885. No. 3. "Annual Repon of the Depanment af Indian 
A E ~ n  far the Year ended 31sr December, 1884," 91-92 (ICC Docurnenls, pp. 384-85). 

103 T.P. Wadswanh, Inspector, Indiao Agencies and Fanns, to Superintendent General 01 Indian Affain, September 
17, 1884, Canada, Parliament, Sessional Papers, 1885, No. 3, "Annual Repon a1 the Depament of lndtan 

flairs lo; he ~ & r  ended 3111 December, i884;'' 91-92 ( l ~ ~ ~ o c u r n e n l s ,  p. 385). 
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to do, and Gambler, who claims to be the Chief, was to advise me of the sections that 
would snit them. 

He called at my otlice some time after, and stated that sections 15 and 22, 
T[ownshiJp 18 R[ange] 29 W[est] of the Assiniboine River suited them. I remember 
charging Gambler, al the time, to be positive, as the Department might have consider- 
able trouble in acquirimg this land, and if they did, that no more changes would be 
expected. His reply was to this effect. If we get this, we have wood, hay, farm, and 
pasture land, and will ask no more. 

In reply to your inquiry as to the advisability of granting them a wood lot up the 
River, 1 beg to offer a few suggestions, which, in my opinion, will bear consideration 
before Iurther trouble and expense is incurred in acquiring more land for them. An 
attempt should be made to get a union of Gambler's, Way-way-see-cappo's and South 
Quill bands, and which I believe can b e .  . . accomplished. The cost to the Deparl- 
ment, in my opinion, of mainraining these three bands on separate Reserves, is tca 
great, and from which they are not deriving the same benefit as they would if a union 
could be consummated. Education is claimed to be the key to Indian civilization, yet 
neither [sic] of these three bands have a school. The cost of maintaining three 
schools, when one would be of more benefit, as it would, in all probability, receive 
encouragement, and good anendance, will, in time, be considerable expense, and, if 
to be judged by the one we started at Gambler's, somerhing over a year ago, will be 
very little encouragement to the Department. More direct supervision could also be 
given them, and many other advantages, which at present they cannot get without an 
enormous expendiiure of money."" 

It is perhaps an indication of Markle's inexperience and unfamiliarity with 
the recent split between the Gambler and Waywayseecappo that his recom- 
mendation regarding reuniting the bands was rejected out of hand in a mar- 
ginal note as "impracticable," although merging Waywayseecappo and South 
Quill was considered a possibility.lo6 

There is no response on file to the first complaint. By the summer of 
1887, Markle reported that the Gambler and many of his followers had 
moved back to the reserve at Bird Tail Creek: 

Gambler, the nominal chief, has now removed lo Way-way-see-Cappo's Reserve at 
Lizard Point, stating, as his reason for the change, that wood and hay are more easily 
obtained there, and that he will be much nearer to the hunting ground on the Riding 
Mountain. 

lo5 J.A. Markle, Acting Indian Agent, to Indian Commissioner, kbruzry 6, 1886, NA. RC 10. vol. 6654. Gle 1ffiA-3 
(ICC Documents, pp. 392-94). 

106 Marginal note in J.A. Markle, Acting Indian Agenl, to Lndian Commissioner, February 6, 1886. NA. RC LO, vol 
6654. hle 1ffiA-3 (ICC Documents, p. 393) 
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Long Claws and his relations have also followed Gambler to the Lizard Point 
Reserve, and I would not be surprised if other members of this band would eventually 
return to the old reserve for the reasons given by Gambler."" 

By the time the Gambler's reserve at Silver Creek was confirmed by Order in 
Council in 1889, most of its residents with the exception of the Tanner family 
had rejoined Waywayseecappo. The situation created problems, not only at 
Lizard Point which had been reoccupied by former residents who had 
renounced it, but also for followers of Rattlesnake at Valley River who had no 
desire to move to Silver Creek but had no reserve land to call their own. 
Hayter Reed, by then the Indian Commissioner, wrote: 

I have the honor lo refer to Department's letter of 21 March 1888 and other 
correspondence relative to the reserve set apart at Silver Creek to enable the Gambler 
and his band to separate from that of Way-way-see-cappo at Lizard Point. 

As the Department is aware, subsequently to the making of such arrangements, 
Gambler and Long Claws, with their immediate respective followers, returned to tiz- 
ard Point. 

Out of the number of souls thus left interested in the Silver Creek reserve, viz., 
128, there is a considerable proportion who although allowed for when that resewe 
was surveyed, were at the time residing at Valley River, in what I understand is now 
blocked out as T[ownshilp 25, R[angel 23, W1, and had been settled there continu- 
ously for some thirty years previously. 

The scarcity of wood and hay, which drove Gambler and Long Claws back to 
Lizard Point, caused a number of those who remained at Silver Creek to abandon it 
and join those who, as already stated, were sealed at Valley River. 

The consequence is, that there are now only some 50 souls remaining at Silver 
Creek, composed almost entirely of members of the Tanner brothers' families, who 
have made themselves so comfortable, that they would not care to move, and natu- 
rally, rather than see the reserve curtailed, would like to force the others to return. 
The Valley River Indians would strongly oppose any attempt to compel them to 
remove to Silver Creek, nor would it be wise to make it, since their present surround- 
ings, including comparatively good hunting, enable them to live, without assistance 
from the Government, and undoubtedly, were a meeting of the whole band held, the 
majority would decide against Silver Creek. 

They express a strnng desire to have a reserve set apart for them at Valley River, 
and are quite willing to resign their interest in the Silver Creek reserve, in exchange. 

The land which could thus be cut off the Silver Creek reserve, although not so well 
adapted for the Indians, as that at Valley River, is none the less pleasing to the eye, 
well adapted for white settlers, and could consequently be readily disposed of by the 

1"- 1.4 \larldr. lnllan yen[. U~nlr. \Iannlc.ua. S~lp,.rtntr.tdenl i ;enml GI lnlan 4IT~~fa.n. uazua. Juh I?  I8x'. 
Cm2Ja. Pir.c%rnml. . ~ r n o ~ u l l I ~ ~ ~ p r ~  IMR \O li. unual Repon nl the U?pamncnl uf lhld~an Uvn lor Ih? 
\ear E n n ~ l  {lrt nrc~mner IhX" '5 " ILC tl\hrbll I? .  )'I .. ub 5 3 .  
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Department of the Interior. Everjhng considered, I feel disposed lo strongly recom- 
mend that the Indians settled at Valley River have a reserve given them there, on the 
terms of an exchange, and that provision be made for the possibility of a few more 
eventually desiring to join them there.'" 

As we have already noted, within five years Rattlesnake's reserve had been 
created, with 15 square miles of the reserve at Silver Creek being surren- 
dered in exchange for an equal area at Valley River.l09 Similarly, dficulties in 
setting apart a reserve for South Quill at Rolling River had been overcome 
and that reserve, too, was created. In 1898, most of the remaining half of the 
Gambler's reserve at Silver Creek was surrendered for sale, with the excep- 
tion of small portions of it being used by the Indians remaining in the vicin- 
ity.l1° Today, the reserve comprises just 1037 acres in five separate 
holdings.lL1 

Elder James Tanner provided the following testimony in relation to the 
surrender of 15 square miles to establish a reserve at Valley River: 

Since the time our land - since that time our land has disappeared acre by acre. 
And at one shot, 15 sections went to Valley River. That 15 sections of land went to 
Valley River people and got the land, and only Valley River people voted. 
. . . 

So with 15 sections gone to Valley River, the 15 sections were sold, was sold to 
farmers and to homesteaders, and all years, and all the years that passed, nobody ever 
told - talked to us about bow our land went from 30 sections to what we have today. 
In the remaining few acres, that was a l w a ~  missing; we did not how,  because 
nobody ever brought this in front of us to how."' 

lo8 llaper Reed. Indian Commissioner, to Depufy Superintendent General of Indian AJTxirs. December 11. 1889, 
Nh, RG 10, vd. 6654, Gle IM-3-1-1 (ICC Ulibit 12, 701. 2, tab 10). 

109 According to one source. die area a t  apan at Vdq Riwr in 18% was 11,54446 acres, or just in excess of 18 
square miles, to replace the I5 square miles ot the Gambler's reserve surrendered in 1893. Foy Poulin, Mema- 
nndum to File. "History - Gambler Reserve No. 63." May 11, 1% (ICC Documenls, p. 417). 

I10 Memorandum, [author unknown], "In Charge of Records," Depamnent of Indian &?airs, J a n u q  26. 1924, NA, 
RG 10, vol. 3714, frle 30848mMND Me 501/30-33 (ICC Documents, p. 406); see also "Gamblers Lsicllndian 
Reserve No. 63" (ICC Fxhibit 9). The areas not surrendered far sale in 1898 are mriously descnbed as tota!ling 
700 acres (Foy Poulin, Memomdum to File, "History - Gambler Reserve No, 63: May 11, 1966 (ICC Docu- 
ments, p. 409)); 860 acres (Author unknown, [Olfice of Native Claimsl, Memorandum to File. ''Waywee- 
cappo Bmd," February 14, 1979 (ICC Documents, p. 497)); and 1037 acres ("Gamblers [sic] Indian Resene 
No. 6 Y  (IU: Exhibit 9)). With regard to the area of 1037 acres represented in Exhibit 9 as being the current 
site a1 IR 63, there are rwo parcels, which would appear to compnre roughly 1M) acres, that ipparenlly were 
not sold lollowing surrender and were returned to the Band in 1963. Deducting 160 acres trom 1037 acres 
would leave an unsurrendered a r n  ol approximately 877 acres as al 1898. 

111 "Camblen Indian Reserve No. 6 3  (ICC Exhibit 9). 
I12  ICC Transcript, November 5 19%, p. 27 (lames Tanner). 
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Mr Patrick Tanner made similar statements to the Commission raising ques- 
tions about the propriety of this surrender and others involving Gamblers 
reserve l ~ n d . ~ ~ 3  Although these are important allegations that warrant close 
examination to determine if the Crown discharged its lawful obligations 
towards the Gamblers First Nation in relation to the manner in which these 
surrenders were taken, our inquiry is Limited to considering whether the First 
Nation has an outstanding treaty land entitlement. Therefore, it should be 
repeated that the Commission makes no conclusions regarding the vahdity of 
the various land surrenders involving the Silver Creek Reserve. 

I l l  Fur c x m y l ~ .  Mr I'dlnck lanttcr r l 3 ~ ~ d  lhll I6,U i h ~  iuchr.~ Hln& t1u1 uert. p l n  01 he k n  F i l r ~  %nalpam3- 
!,on. chcr, uu U%!wr, juulh yulll, L k m r ! .  btdp\nake inl Cmoier LI (he .thur reen<, rt,;t.ne.i g,ou 
,vw rot.n..i Ti~rv Lae 311 - thrv h n z  dl rrtncd l~tost i f  ihr "en 61 tbmhlcr lost most of 11 1.a r e  h n r ,  
today, is only mayde one-twentieth'of what the ;eselve was. . . . I the one that sticks oul the most in my 
mind was Valley River. They surrendered I5 square miles of Gambler's for their reserve at Valley River. ThaPs 
the Raulesnake's And when they surrendered, I don't know why they were the ones to surrender, but they 
surrendered pan of our reserve. I 5  square miles, for their resem. And ar tho time when it was surrendered. 
there was not one peaon from Gambler who signed the surrender. It seems like whoever asked f i m  got a piece 
of the pie Grsf and by the h e  i t  came to Gambler's turn, the pie was finished (ICC Transcript. November 5, 
1966, pp. 12-13 [Patrick Tanner]). 
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PART I11 

ISSUES 

As discussed above, legal counsel for the Gamblers First Nation and Canada 
agreed at the Planning Conference of June 14, 1996, that the Commission 
should focus on the following three issues: 

1 Was Canada's obligation to provide treaty lands to the claimant in respect 
of the adherence to Treaty 4 on September 21, 1874, satisfied in 1877 
with the selection and survey of the lands at Bird Tail Creek for the "Fort 
Ellice Band? 

2 To what extent, if at all, did the "surrender for exchange" in 1881 d e c t  
the treaty land entitlement of the claimant? 

3 What is the quantum of the claimant's outstanding treaty land entitlement, 
if any? 

At the same planning conference, Canada and the First Nation agreed that the 
apparent discrepancy of some two square miles between the 1881 surrender 
and the Order in Council accepting that surrender would not be an issue in 
this inquiry. 

Because the First Nation's confirming research on the treaty paylist analy- 
sis and determination of the land quantum was not completed, the parties 
subsequently agreed that the Commission's findings and recommendations in 
this inquiry should be restricted to identifymg the proper date of first survey 
for the Gamblers First Nation and determining what impact, if any, the 1881 
"surrender for exchange" has on the calculation of the First Nation's treaty 
land entitlement. Part IV of this report sets out our analysis and findings with 
regard to these two modified issues a. agreed to by the parties: 

1 Is the proper date of first survey for the Gamblers First Nation 1877 or 
1883? 



2 To what extent, if at all, did the "surrender for exchange" in 1881 affect 
the treaty land entitlement of the claimants? 
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PART IV 

ANALYSIS 

ISSUE 1 DATE OF FIRST SURVEY 

Is the proper date of first survey for the Gamblers First Nation 1877 or 1883? 

Canada and the Gamblers First Nation agree that, in addressing the issue of 
whether Canada's obligation to provide treaty lands to the First Nation has 
been satisfied, the date of first survey should be used for the purpose of 
calculating the First Nation's treaty land entitlement. The source of the dis- 
pute in this claim is whether the date of first survey was 1877, when William 
Wagner surveyed the original reserve at Bird Tail Creek for the Fort Ellice 
Band, or 1883, when a separate reserve was surveyed for the Gambler and 
his followers at Silver Creek. Selecting one date over the other will have sig- 
nificant consequences in relation to the First Nation's claim. As the case has 
been framed by the parties, the question of which date is the proper date of 
first survey for the purposes of treaty land entitlement turns on whether the 
1877 survey was performed validly and in accordance with the terms of 
Treaty 4, since neither party has challenged the legitimacy of the 1881 sur- 
render and the subsequent 1883 survey of reserve land for the Gambler. 

The. relevant provision of Treaty 4 in h s  context is the "reserve clause," 
which provides: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to assign 
reserves for said Indians, such r e m e s  to be selected by o@cers of Her Majesty's 
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for thatpurpose, u8er confer- 
ence with each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square 
mile for each family of heve, or in that proportion for larger or smaller families; 
provided, however, that it be understood that, if at the time of the selection of any 
reserves, as aforesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands r e s e d  
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for any band, Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers as She shall deem 
just, so as not to diminish the extent of land allotted to the Indians. . . .'I4 

In determining the proper date of first survey, we must consider the meaning 
of the words "after conference with each band of the Indians" and the 
respective rights and obligations of Canada and the Band in relation to the 
selection and survey of the Band's reserve lands under Treaty 4. Another area 
of dispute that arises in the context of this issue is whether the representa- 
tives of either Canada or the Band were properly authorized to select the 
reserve at Bird Tail Creek in 1877. In addressing these questions, we will 
first set out the main principles of treaty interpretation that have been devel- 
oped by the courts and applied by the Commission in earlier inquiries, and 
we will then apply those principles to the Facts and treaty provisions in this 
case. 

Principles of Treaty Interpretation 
In previous inquiries into claims involving alleged outstanding treaty land 
entitlements, the Commission has found that, although there is limited case 
authority dealing with treaty land entitlement, a convenient starting point is 
the six well-established principles of treaty interpretation that have arisen in 
the jurisprudence. These principles were concisely restated in the Report 
and Recommendations on Treaty Land Entitlement published by Saskatch- 
ewan's Office of the Treaty Commissioner: 

The treaty should be given a fair, large and liberal construction in favour of the 
Indians. 

Treaties must be construed not according to the technical meaning of their words, 
but in the sense that they would naturally be understood by the Indians. 

As the honour of the Crown is always involved, no appearance of "sharp dealing" 
should be sanctioned. 

. Any ambiguity in wording should be interpreted as against the drdters and should 
not be interpreted to the prejudice of the Indians if another construction is tea- 
sonably possible. 

- Evidence by conduct or othenvise as to how the parties understood the treaty is of 
assistance in giving it content. 

114 Tmdy No 4 betmen Her Mojest) tbe Queen and tbe Cree and Saulleaw T&es of Indrans at @2pplle 
and Fort EllLe (Ottawa: Queen's Printer, 1966), 6 .  Emphasis added. 
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The treaty was made with Indians, not bands, and an examination of the treaty'as 
a whole indicates that most terms are intended to treat individual Indians equally, 
and bands in proportion to their  population^."^ 

As we stated in our reports into the claims of the Kahkewistahaw and Lucky 
Man Cree Nations, we take the view that these principles of interpretation, 
applied in the context of treaty land entitlement, lead to the conclusion that 
the Commission will normally apply the date of first survey approach to cal- 
culate treaty land entitlement unless there are unusual circumstances which 
would otherwise result in manifest unfa i rnes~.~~We have already noted that 
this conclusion is not in issue in the present inquiry because the parties, 
although differing on what constitutes the date of first survey, do not disagree 
with the date of first survey approach as the basis for calculating the band's 
entitlement. 

Nevertheless, certain of the Commission's earlier conclusions regarding 
treaty land entitlement bear repeating. As we stated in our report on the 
treaty land entitlement claim of the Fort McKay First Nation: 

The treaty conferred upon every Indian an entitlement to land exercisable either as a 
member of a band or individually by taking land in severalty. In the case of Indians 
who were members of a band, that entit[ement crystalkzed at the time of theJrst 
survey of the resave. The quantum of land to which the band was entitled in that 
fin1 sulvey is a question of tact, determined on the basis of the actual band member- 
ship - including band members who were absent on the date of Erst survey.'" 

In its report on the Lac La Ronge inquiry, the Commission summarized its 
findings on the nature and extent of the Crown's obligations by setting out six 
principles, which provide a useful framework for dealing with treaty land 
entitlement claims: 

1 The purpose and intention of the treaty is that each band is entitled to 128 acres 
of land for each member of the band, and every treaty Indian is entitled to be 
counted in an entitlement calculation as a member of a band. 

115 Clia Wright, Ofice of the Treaty Cammissioner. Xeporf andRecommendalions on Treafy Land Milkmen1 
(Saslwtachewan, May 1990), 24. 

116 ICC, Inquiry inlo !be Tmly  LandEnlitlemenl Claim of l k  kbh is tabmu Firs1 Nation (Ottawa, November 
19961, reponed (1998) 6 ICCP 21 at 77-78; ICC. Inquiry into fk Tmfy LandEnlitlement Claim of fk 
Lucby Man Cree Narion (Ottawa, March IW7), repaned (1998) 6 ICCP 109 at 155. 

117 ICC, lrtpiry into lbe T r e e  Lmd Enf i l k t l~ t f  Claim o f t k  Fort Mchy Firsl Nation (Oltawa. December 
IW5), reponed (1996) 5 ICCP 3 at 53. Emphasct added. It should be noted that. unlike Treaties 8 and 10. 
Treaty 4 does not l l low lor land to be provided in severalty. However, in our view, the genenl prinuple 
proriding for he quantum of land to be determined at the time of the first survey is identid under each treaty. 
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2 For a band without reserves, the quantum of land entitlement clystdlizes no later 
than the date of the first survey and shall be based on the actual band member- 
ship, including band members who were absent at the time of the survey. 

3 if the band received its full land entitlement at date of first survey, Canada's treaty 
obligations are satisfied, subject to the principle that "late additions" are entitled 
to be counted for entitlement purposes. 

4 If a band did not receive its full entitlement at the date of first survey, or if a new 
or additional shortfall arose as a result of "late additions" joining the band after 
first survey, the band has an outstanding treaty entitlement to the shodall acre- 
age, and Canada must provide at least this amount of land in order to discharge 
its obligation to provide reserve lands under treaty. 

5 Canada's M u r e  to provide the lull land entitlement at date of Erst survey, o r  
subsequently to provide sufficient additional land to fuu any new treaty land 
entidement arising by virme of "late additions" joining the band after first survey, 
constitutes a breach of the treaty and a corresponding breach of fiduciaq obliga- 
tion. A breach of trealy or fiducialy obligation can give rise to an equitable oblig- 
tion to provide restiution to the band. 

6 Natural increases or decreases in the band's population after the date of first 
survey have no bearing on the amount of land owed to the band under the terms 
of trealy.'IR 

In its subsequent report on the Kahkewistahaw First Nation's treaty land 
entitlement claim, the Commission offered the following views on the date of 
first survey, based on its comments arising out of the treaty kdnd entitlement 
inquiry for the lac La Ronge Indian Band: 

In the Lac La Ronge inquiry, h e  Commission i$erpreted the reserve clause in 
Treaty 6 and considered a number of possible dates and appmaches for calculaling 
treaty land entitlement, including the date of treaty, the date of selection, the date of 
Grsl survey, and the current date. Although the wording of the reserve clause in 
Treaty 6 (signed in 1876) is not identical to that contained in Treaty 4, h e  two are 
substantially similar. Treaty 6 provides that "the Chief Superintendent of Indian Alkdirs 
shall depute and send a suitable person to determine and set apart the reserves for 
each Band, after consulting with the Indians thereof as to the locality which may be 
found to be most suitable for them.""%er considering the various options for cal- 
culating entitlement, h e  Commission made the fouowing conclusions about the inter- 
pretation of the reserve clause: 

118 ICC, Lac La Konge Indian W R e p o t l  on Tmaly Land Eztillemed ( 0 t h ~ .  March 1$96), reported (19%) 
5 ICCP 235 at 318-19. 

119 For comparative purposes, he wording of the reselve clause in Treq No. 4 is set out on pages 16 and 51 of 
this repan. 



In our view, the wording of the treaty and the surrounding historical con- 
text suggest that the parties intended to carry out the selection and survey of 
resenres within a short time following treaty to avoid conflicts with settlers over 
land $elections. Despite the absence of clear wording in the treaty or deEnitive 
policy guidelines on treaty land entitlement, the general practice of Indian 
ABairs was to calculate the amount of land to be set aside by counting the 
number of band members on the most recent treaty annuity paylist available to 
the Geld surveyor at the time of the survey. If the parties had intended to use 
the populations of Indian bands at the time of the treaty to determine land 
entitlement, this could have been easily accomplished by attaching a schedule 
to the treaty listing the respective population figures for each band that signed 
treaty, The fact that lndian AEairs lacked reliable information on band popula- 
tion Bgures at the time of trealy suggests that such an interpretation was not 
intended by the parties. . . . 

In our view, the most reasonable interpretation of the reserve clause is that 
every trealy Indian is entitled to be counted - once - for (reaiy land entitie- 
ment purposes, and that the parties intended to determine the size of Indian 
reserves by reference to a band's population on or before the date of first 
survey. This interpretation is supported by the wording of the reselve clause 
itself, by the statements made by the parties during the treaty negotiations, and 
by the subsequent conduct of the parties relating to the selection and survey of 
reserves. We reiterate that this conclusion is consistent with the principles out- 
lined in the Commission's Fort McKay and Kawacatoose Reports. These repom 
provide that all treaty Indians, including "late additions [such as new adher- 
ents to treaty and transferees from landless bands]" are entitled to be counted 
for entitlement purposes, even if they join a band after its full land entitlement 
has been set aside. 

In general, we agree with the statement in the 1983 [Office of Native Claims 
Historical Research Guidelines for Trealy Land Entitlement Claims] that, 
"although the treaties do not clearly identlfy the date for which a band's popu- 
lation base is to be determined for the land quanmm calculations the most 
reasonable date is not later than the date of Erst survey of land." Depending on 
the facts of any given case, it may be necessary to consider many questions in 
selecting the date on which a band's population should be assessed, including 
the speci6c terms of treaty, the circumstances surrounding the selection of 
land by the band, delays in the survey of treaty land, and the reasons for those 
delays.'2u 

I!, ICC, hyutn fnlo r h  rw.al.lr, l~ndtnl~rlrmrnl  Lbtm #dl& f f ibhaldbm f'vv V h l l ~ n  UIUWI, N . k a h c r  
[ N o ,  reponrd IWI u h:CP 21 A I  'b:' I C  pzwgr wltrrcd 11) lmtn the C o ~ n r n u ~ ~ n  < repon the 
Iran. laold ~tlullrmcnl t l a m  al  1 1 ~  h r  La Ronre ran Dr luunJ 31 I('('. Induln #nl,, lbe rmh lund Fnnrb- 
me& Wain of the ldcldin~age Indian ~and"(Oltaw, March 1996): repa& (1996) 5 I C C ~  at 235 at 316- 
17. 
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As we noted previously, the date of first survey approach is not in issue in 
these proceedings, hut the foregoing passages are useful to establish the con- 
text of our analysis. 

It is also helpful in this inquiry to refer to the Department of Indian Affairs 
and Northern Development's "Criteria Used in Determining Bands with Out- 
standing Entitlements in Saskatchewan" as it relates to cases involving hand 
splits. Although the criteria were developed by Indian Affairs in 1977 
expressly in relation to Saskatchewan hands, this document is instructive in 
identlfylng how Canada generally dealt with band splits and the calculation of 
land entitlement under the numbered treaties. The criteria state that once a 
band has split or divided to form hvo or more new bands, different methods 
of calculating treaty land entitlement will be used depending on whether the 
split occurred before or after the date of first survey. Generally, if the band 
received treaty land before the split occurred, the band's treaty land entitle- 
ment would be calculated hased on the population of the original band as a 
whole as of the date of first survey rather than on the populations of the new 
hands. Conversely, if treaty land was allocated but not to the original hand 
before the split occurred, then entitlements would he calculated separately 
for the new bands after the split hased on their respective dates of first 
survey.lZ1 

In the case at issue, the First Nation challenges Canada's contention that 
the first survey occurred before the Gambler and his followers split from 
Waywayseecappo. Counsel submits that, although Canada sought to amalga- 
mate on one reserve the followers of as many Chiefs as possible, this policy 
of amalgamation failed at an early stage because of the nomadic nature of the 
Indians of that area at that time: 

The phrase "Band is ohen used in terms of the notes by Lieutenant Governor Morris 
at that time. Tents, tribes, those kind of phrases are tossed about. There are, in the 
materials provided to the Commissioners, several socio-economic historical reports, 
and they all seem to suggest that particularly in the Fort Ellice region, Ihe Saultem, 
and the Qu'AppeUe region, the Crees, at that time were very migratory. The concept of 
a Chief was something that was basically an indication Ihat the majority had supported 
somebody, or for the time being support somebody, and that person carried the man- 
Ue of chiehainship at that time. It could change almost any time."" 

I21 Depanment of Indian @sin and Northern Dwelopment, "Cdteda Used in Determining Bands with Oulsknding 
Enrillemenu in Sashchewan: August 1977. 

122 ICC Transcript, November 6, 1996, p. 93 (Paul 8. forsyth). 
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Canada submits that, unlike Sakimay, who received a separate reserve as 
early as 1876, the Gambler did not ask to be treated separately; he remained 
a headman under Waywayseecappo until the surrender in 1881 and should 
be treated as one of the people represented by Waywayseecapp0.~~3 For its 
part, the First Nation contends that, when the Gambler objected to Wagner's 
survey in 1877, he did so on behalf of his own followers as well as 
Waywayseecappo and his people, for whom the Gambler had been appointed 
sp~kesman . '~~  However, the First Nation did not go so far as to suggest that 
the Gambler and his people comprised a separate band in 1877. It also did 
not suggest that, if Wagner had amended his survey to suit the Gambler at 
that time, the land so set apart would not have formed the reserve for 
Waywayseecappo, the Gambler, and their combined followers, or that the 
survey would not have been their "first survey." 

In its inquiry into the claim of the Young Chipeewayan Band regarding 
Stoney Knoll IR 107, the Commission was called upon to determine whether 
the claimants constituted a "band." We noted the definition of a "band in 
the 1876 Indian Act as "any tribe, band or body of Indians who own or are 
interested in a reserve or in Indian lands in common of which the legal title 
is vested in the Crown, or who share alike in the distribution of any annuities 
or interest moneys for which the Government of Canada is re~ponsible."'~~ 
We found that, "[iln common parlance the words 'band,' 'tribe,' and 'body' 
all imply a group living as a community, a communal group"lz6 and that "a 
'band,' as that term is used in common law, is a body of individuals who 
exist as a collective, cohesive, and identifiable community."127 The evidence 
before the Commission in that case led us to conclude that the claimants 
were "an identifiable community living today, or indeed at any time previous, 
as a ~ollectivity."~~~ 

In the present case, if we were required to decide whether Waywaysee- 
cappo, the Gan~bler, and their followers constituted a band in 1877, we 
would be inclined to conclude that, following the survey by Wagner, they 
were indeed a body of Indians living together as a collective community on 

123 1CC Tnnsenpt, November 6, 19%. pp. 206-07 (Pnnpis  D d e )  
124 ICC T-cnpt, Nowmber 6. 19%. D. 208 ( h u l  B. Fomith). , . 
12s Indian ~ c t .  'SC 1876, c. 1s. s. 3(1j. 
126 ICC, Tbe Yorrng Cbipewqan Ifiquiy into 168 Clain regording Slo~foney KnoU Indian Reserve No 107 

(Ottawa, December 1994). reported (1995) 3 ICCP 175 at 198. 
127 ICC. Tk Ymng Cbipmqan lnquiy inlo 168 Claim regarding Sroney KmU Indim Reserve No 107 

(Ottawa, December 1994), reponed (1995) 3 ICCP 175 at 202. 
128 ICC, Tk Yo~ng C b i p a y u n  lnquiy inlo Ibe Claim regarding Slonty Knoll Indian Reserve No 107 

(Onam, December 1994). reponed (1995) 3 ICCP 175 at 202. 
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the reserve set aside for them. At the 1881 surrender meeting, the Gambler 
sought Waywayseecappo's consent to surrender land in exchange for land 
that Gambler and his followers would receive at Silver Creek - a consent that 
presumably would not have been required had the Gambler and his people 
previously constituted a separate band. In the Gambler's own surrender 
speech, he confirmed that he had gathered members to join the band of 
which Waywayseecappo was to be "our Chief." 

However, we do not find it necessary to determine whether Waywaysee- 
cappo, the Gambler, and their followers comprised a single band because it 
has not been raised as an issue. The First Nation is merely challenging the 
validity of the 1877 survey; it is not claiming that the Gambler led a separate 
band. That being the case, since the First Nation merely contends that the 
1877 survey by Wagnerprior to the band split in 1881 was invalid, it follows, 
in the First Nation's submission, that the true first surveys were performed by 
Ponton after the band split and that entitlements should be calculated 
accordingly. Canada takes the opposite position. 

We will now consider the validity of the 1877 survey. 

"Conference with Each Band of the Indians" 
The validity of the 1877 survey by William Wagner must be measured with 
reference to the requirements of Treaty 4 regarding the establishment of 
reserves for the Indian peoples of that territory. For ease of reference, it will 
be recalled that the reserve clause states: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to assign 
reserves for said Indians, such reserves to he selected by officers of Her Majestys 
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointedJor tbalputpose, afier confer- 
ence wilh each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square 
mile for each family of five, or in that proportion for larger or smaller families; 
provided, however, that it be understood tha, if at the time of the selection of any 
reserves, as aforesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands reserved 
for any band, Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers as She shall deem 
just, so as not to diminish the extent of land allotted to the Indians; and provided, 
further, that the aforesaid reserves of land, or any part thereof, or any interest or right 
therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be sold, leased or otherwise disposed of by the 
said Government for the use and beneGt of the said Indians, with the consent of the 
Indians entitled thereto Grst had and obtained, but in no wise shall the said Indians, 
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or any of them, be entitled to sell or otherwise alienate any of the lands allotted to 
them as reserves.'" 

We will consider first the meaning and application of the conference require- 
ment in this clause before turning to the question of who constituted the 
authorized representatives for both Canada and the Band in the land selec- 
tion process. 

The Meaning of "Conference" 
Canada and the Gamblers First Nation agree that, under the terms of Treaty 4, 
the Crown's representatives were required to confer with a particular band of 
Indians before setting apart a reserve for that band. Where they differ is on 
the content of the conference requirement and which party - Canada or the 
band, or either of them - has the final say in determining the location of the 
band's reserve. 

Canada urges the Commission to find that the word "conference" within 
the overall context of the reserve clause means that, after conferring with a 
band regarding the desired location for its reserve, Canada's officers were to 
select reserve land for the band. Counsel contends that this definition is true 
regardless of whether the Commission relies simply on the "clear terms" of 
the treaty or, should it find those terms ambiguous, on additional extraneous 
evidence. Similarly, it would he contrary to the terms of treaty to suggest that 
a band has the exclusive right to determine the location of its reserve or the 
right to at least consent to the location before the reserve is set apart.130 
Canada argues that, if the treaty makers had intended that the Indians should 
have to consent or agree to the locations of their reserves, the treaty makers 
would have used the word "consent" just as they did in the proviso of the 
reserve clause that allows the government to dispose of reserve lands "with 
the consent of the Indians entitled thereto first had and obtained: 

If you go to the word "consent" o r  "agreement," it implies a decision; it implies "yes" 
or "no"; it implies a free exercise of will. 

"Conference" and "consent" are different words. They mean ditferent things and 
hey mean differenl things in their ordinary meaning,. . . the ordina~y meaning of 
both parties to the Treaty, I submit.')' 

L29 T m 4  No 4 b d w n  Her Majesly (be Queen and fbe C m  and Soulleaw: Tribes of indkns al @#ppeUe 
and Fort Ellice (Ottawl: Queen's Printer, I Y G ) ,  6 .  Emphasis added. 

130 Submisr~ons on Behalf ol the Gowrnment of Canada. October 29, 1 9 6 ,  p. 12. 
131 ICC Transcripl. November 6, 1996, p. 169 (€ranfais Daide). 
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In any event, Canada argues that the source of the power to set aside reserves 
is not the treaty but rather the royal prerogative of the Crown: 

The assumption here is that the power to set aside reserves derives from the Treaty. 
The power to set aside reserves does not derive from the Treaty, we submit; it's an 
exercise of the Royal prerogative of the Crown. There is an obligation on the Crown to 
set aside reserves, but the actual selting aside is done through the Royal prerogative of 
the Crown."' 

Counsel submits that the selection of reserves by Canada's representatives is 
subject to certain matters that Canada must consider in making the selection, 
including: 

the wishes of the band;'33 

the rights of settlers already resident on the land selected;'3* 

- existing township surveys and further requirements of the Dominion 
Lands Act regarding lands for schools and the Hudson's Bay Company;li5 
and 

other factors such as the shape of the reserve, water frontage, soil quality, 
access to timber, existing and future settlements, railway use, and suitabil- 
ity for uses such as farming and hunting.136 

According to Canada, "[tlhe fact that the Crown's discretion is limited in the 
selection of reserves also supports the view. . . that the discretion was the 
Crown's; it wasn't the First Nation's." Therefore, in counsel's submission, 
Canada rather than the band has the final say in determining where the 
band's reserve should be located.13' 

The Gamblers First Nation responds that Canada's interpretation of the 
word "conference" is too narrow. Rather than mere consultation, "confer- 
ence" in a legal setting implies meeting and consulting to resolve differences, 
to harmonize codicting views and ultimately to arrange a compromise 

132 ICC Transcript, November 6. 1996, p 171 (Frangois Daigle) 
133 ICC T m s c n p t ,  November 6, I%, p. 185 (Fran~ois D~@,lc). 
I34 ICC Transcript, November 6, 1996, p. 173 (Fnnrpis Ddgle); Submissions on Behalf of the Government of 

Canada, October 29, 1996, p. 13. 
135 ICC Transcript, November 6, 1996, yp. 173, 181 (Franpis Daigle); Submissians on BehalI of he  Government 

of Canada, Oe~ober 29. 1996, p. 13, 
136 ICC Transcript, November 6, 1996, p p  179-80 (Francais Daigle); Submissions an Behalf of the Government of 

Canada, October 29, 1996, p 13. 
137 ICC Transcripl. November 6, 1996, p. I72 (Fran~ois Daigle). 



acceptable to both parties.138 The First Nation agreed that "consent" means 
something different than "conference," but it expressed the difference in th~s 
way: 

"Consent" as used in the second paragraph of the Treaty is basically, Canada comes 
and says, we're going to dispose of lhis, we're going to use this, we're going to expro- 
priate this, we need your consent, will you do it. It's a much a e r e n t  concept than I 
suggest is covered with the words "after conference," which ralk about negotiation 
and compromise and agreement.'Sq 

Counsel pointed to a number of indicators that the treaty requires at least 
agreement between a band and the Crown in the selection of reserve lands, 
and suggested that these might even go so far as to show that, in the final 
analysis, a band's wishes should be paramount: 

At the 1874 treaty negotiations, the Gambler is reported by Morris to have 
said that "we have not looked around us yet, and chosen our land, which I 
understand you tell us to choose."140 

Commissioners Christie and Dickieson were instructed "to select the 
Reserves where they shall he deemed most convenient and advnnta- 
geous for the Indians, each Reserve to be selected as provided by the 
Treaty after conference with the Indians interested therein and subject to 
the other conditions set forth in the Treaty."L4L 

In his memorandum regarding the selection of reserves, Surveyor General 
J.S. Dennis stated that, "as soon as possible after the location of the 
reserues in question may be decided upon between the Commissioner 
and the Indians, the outlines thereof, in each case, should be laid out and 
marked upon the ground."142 

I38 ICC Transcript, November 6 ,  1996. pp. 137-38 (Paul B. Forsylh). 
139 la Transcripl,  Novwnber 6. 1996, P .  210 (Paul B. Forsyth). 
140 Submissions on Behallof he Gamblers Firs Nzlion, Oclober 24. 1996, p. 21; Morris, Treaties o/Canodn, 84- 

85 (ICC Documents, p. 31). 
141 Submissions on Behall of the Gmblers First Nation, Oclobet 24, I M ,  p. 21; Order in Cound, July 9. 1875. 

NA, RG 10, "01. 3622, Me 5007 (ICC Documents, p. 46). Emphasis added. 
la2  !hbmlssions an Behall at the Gamblen First Nation, October 24, 186, p. 23; IS. Dennis. Sunqor General, 

Memorandum, July 13, 1875, NA, RG 10, vol. 3622, f ie  5047 ( l a  Documents, pp. 48-49). 
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Following the Commissioners' meetings with the Indians in 1875, Christie 
wrote that "[tlhe Chiefs a t  [Fort] Ellice were not all decided as to the 
locality of their Reserves."143 

In his report of those same meetings with the Fort Ellice Band, Wagner 
commented, first, that "the Reserve for this tri6e was choosen [sic] by 
them at the head of Bird Tail Creek" and, second, that "[tlhe Fort Ellice 
Indians numbering 65 families will probably choose the midst of the 
woods and occupy nearly 2 townships of 41600 acres."144 

Finally, in response to a request for his legal opinion regarding the 
requirements for setting apart a reserve upon a claim by a trespasser that a 
reserve had not been properly created, Z.A. Lash of the Department of 
Justice stated that, "the survey and setting out of the reserve having been 
done with the express consent & approval of the Indians & having since 
been acquiesced in by them, no Order in Council is necessary; hut in as 
much as an Order in Council is a more formal record of the proceedings 
the undersigned recommends, for the avoidance of doubts, tkdt one he 
passed approving of & confirming the reserve as already set apart."14i 

In conclusion, the First Nation submits that a Liberal interpretation of Treaty 4 
means that the Indians would have understood the word "conference" to 
mean that they were entitled to select their own reserve or that they must at 
least agree with Canada as to the land to be set apart.t46 Counsel did express 
one caveat, however: 

It's not our submission that the wishes of the Bands are absolute and paramount and 
without reasonable restriction. 

143 Submissions on Behalf of the Gamblers First Nation. October 24. 1996, p. 24; W.J. Christie, Indian Cammis- 
srona. to E.A. Meredim. Deoun Minialer. Deoarunent of the 1nte"ar. Seotenlber 9. 1875. PAM. MG 12. 81. 
dc\rtldrr V.m, lhrutenm; ~;:ttrrnur, ii.lrruon. \u 1U.k \ I =  I ) ~ ; ~ ~ ; I I L <  0 p i  

I wbn..,,mn< $1" I l c l ~ d ~  <.I t1.c tizno,m Rr,, \auon. t1.1, brr 2 %  I,PJ(,, p !I u.U.m Ung'cr .  U.I.I~ 10" LLn1 
<unrs,c, ( >  Mmbw ~ 1 1  ,he I ~ I c ~ o ~ ,  Jan .an !, lb-8, ?i\, UG $8, %I 5u81, GI. t!uw I h L  l J o r ~ . m ~ ~ ~ b  01, 1515 
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146 Submissions on Behalf of the Gamblers First Nation, October 24, 1996, p. 20 
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There are restrictions that are reasonable. If settlers are settled in an area, or a 
city o r  town exists, it would not be reasonable, even if the Band said they wanted that 
land, to uproot all of those settlers. That's considered in the words of the Treaty. 

By the same token, things like railways, telegraphs, I mean I think those are rea- 
sonable limitations. Some of the lhings that are referred to in the Dominion Lands 
Act would probably be reasonable limitations. 

But subject to reasonable limitations, the wishes of the Bands, the Indians, were to 
be paramount at that time. And unless there was a reasonable, an objective reason to 
disallow what the Indians had chosen, particularly at the meeting with Christie, then 
their wishes should not have been igno~ed.'~' 

The Commission has already had the opportunity in two previous inquiries 
to consider the requirements for creating a reserve. In the first, which Like 
the present case dealt with a claim under Treaty 4, the Commission was 
asked by the Kahkewistahaw First Nation to determine whether a band's 
treaty land entitlement should be calculated when the band requested land in 
a particular location or when the first survey had been completed. We stated: 

It is clear that a band's e n t i t h n t  to reserve land arises upon the band signing or 
adhering to treaty. However, the quantiJ?cation and location of the band's entitle- 
ment are not triggered until certain procedures described in the treaty are carried 
out. Under Treaty 4, "such w s m e s  [are/ to be selected by officers of Her Majesty's 
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, after confirence 
with each band of the Indians." In our view, the purpose of the "conference" with 
the band was to ensure that the land to be set aside as reserve met with the approval 
of the chief and headmen and that it was suitable for its intended purpose (which was 
Qically agriculture in the case of bands in southern Saskatchewan). However, it does 
not necessarily follow that the band's population on the date of selection should 
determine the size of the reserve. 

In thwq,  the process of sening apart a reserve should have been straightforward. 
The band would identify the location it wanted for its reserve and would meet with 
Canada's officers - often the Indian agent o r  the surveyor or both - to communicate 
its choice. There would, in that sense, be a "conference" as contemplated by Treaty 4. 
If Canada agreed with the band's selection, and assuming there were no conflicting 
claims for the selected lands, steps would be taken to survey the reserve following a 
calculation of the band's entitlement. Because Indian Affairs did not maintain compre- 
hensive band lists or reliable census data until about 1951, the band's population 
would be estimated based on the best information available to the surveyor at that 
time - including paylist figures, discussions with the chief, the Indian agent and 
others, and the surveyor's own knowledge of the band. In fact, it was not unusual for 
the surveyor to provide land in excess of the band's paylist population in situations 

147 ICC Transcripl, November 6, 1996, pp. 210-11 (Paul B. Forsylh) 
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where the government estimated that a substantial number of band members were 
&sent at the time of the survey. 

Based on the best information available, the surveyor would determine the band's 
population, calculate the area of land to be set aside, run survey lines on the ground, 
establish monuments to identify the area, document the work in field notes, complete 
a survey plan, and submit the plan to Ottawa for approval and registration. From the 
perspective of the band, members could accept the reserve set aside by the surveyor, 
either expressly by stating their approval or implicitly by residing on and using the 
reserve for their collective benefit. Conversely, the band might express its disapproval 
by objecting to Canada's offices or simply by refusing to live on or use the reserve as 
surveyed. 

It was only when agreement or consensus was reached between the parties to the 
treaty - by Canada agreeing to survey the land selected by the band, and by the band 
accepting the survey as properly defining the desired reserve - th;u the land as sur- 
veyed could be said to constitute a reserve for the purposes of the treaty. Therefore, 
the date of first survey was significant because, if the band accepted the surveyed land 
as its reserve, the completion and acceptance of the First survey provided evidence 
that both parties agreed that the land would be treated as an Indian reserve for the 
purposes of the treaty. Smce the survey is important evidence of Canada's intention to 
establish a reserve, it is not unreasonable to use the date on the survey plan as the 
date of first survey for entitlement calculation, provided that the completion of the 
physical survey of the reserve boundaries can be shown to have coincided roughly 
with the preparation of the survey plan. Once it has been concluded that a reserve has 
been set aside, the population must be assessed on this date to determine whether 
Canada has satisfied the band's treaty land entiflement 

We are mindful of the six principles of treaty interpretation, which have been 
d e h e d  by the courts and raised by counsel for Kahkewistahaw. We do not agree, 
however, that those principles drive us inexorably to the conclusions that the First 
Nation would have us reach. In our view, using the date of first survey as the operaive 
date for calculating tre.aty land entitlement represents an interpretation that is "fair, 
large and liberal" and accords with the manner in which the land allocation process 
would have been understood by the Indians at the time of survey. 

We disagree that using the date of Erst survey rather than the date of selection is 
"clearly prejudicial to the Indians," or that using the date of selection 'kould ensure 
that all Indians receive land and are treated equally, fairly and consistently." It is not 
accurate to suggest that one approach is universally favourable to the Indians and the 
other is consistentlv nreiudicial. Calculatine a band's oo~ulation on the date of selec- ~~~~ ~ ~~ ~ , r  , " . . 
tion would work to the band's detriment if the band's population was increasing, just 
as calculating the population on the date of first survey would be disadvantageous if 
the population was decreasing. 

We believe that h e  Commission's ppproach is supportable as a fair and reasona- 
ble interpretation of Treaty 4. We note in passing that this approach is also consistent 
with the methodology developed by Canada in the Office of Native Claims Historical 
Research Guidelines for Treaty [and Entitlement (the 1983 ONC Guidelines), which 
identlfy five distinct steps to determine whether a band has received its full land 
entitlement: 



Determining a Band's treaty land entitlement involves five basic steps: 
1) Identification of the band and the applicable Treaty. 
2) Determination of the relevant survey date. 
3) Determination of the total lands received by the band. 
4 )  Determination of the population base. 
5) Overall entitlement calculations. 
. . .  
B P  
The date to be used in the land quantum calculations is seldom clearly spelled 
out in any of the treaties. Some of the treaties refer to the laying aside or 
assignment of a reserve, others mention the selection of land. Legal advice 
from the Department of Justice suggests that, although the treaties do not 
clearly identlfy the date for which a band's population base is to be determined 
for the land quantum calculations, the most reasonahh date is not later than 
the date offirst suruey of land. It is Canada's general view that this is the 
date to he used to detamine whether it has met its obligation under the 
treaties, to provide a quantum of land to an lndian Band based on the 
population of that Baud at date offirst suwq .  

Generally the date to he used is t a k n  fmm the plan of survey of the 
first reserve set aside for the use and benefit of an Indian Rand. This is the 
date which is noted by the surveyor as the date which he carried out the 
survey. Other indicators that ought to he noted include the date on which 
the surveyor signed the plan and the date noted in the surveyor's field 
book. 

In some cases, the date which is chosen for entitlement putposes is not 
the date of thefirst actual sumeyfor a hand's reserve. A reserue m y  have 
been surveyed for the hand, hut it was never administered as a reserve. 
Furthermore, i f the hand rejects the survey and abandons the reserve after 
the survey, another r e s m  m y  be surveyed ekewhere at a hter date and 
confirmed by Order-in-Council. Depending on thehcts  in each case, this 
could he considered as the date offirst survey. The later s u r q  could he 
used as date offirst survey because this is when thefirst reserve, oflcially 
recognized by Order-in-Council, was set aside for the hand.'" 

As h e  last paragraph implies, where more than one survey has been performed 
for a dven band, a critical issue in determining whether a band's treaty land entitle- 
nlent I;=$ Ileen satisfied is lo ascertain wh~rh  sGev is the hand , jirst survey \c rud-  
lne lo rhe OTC's 'Rrve~rch lethodo11)w for Treat! land Enullcmcnt rTI.EJW ruide- . . .  
lines, the "Erst survey" can be i d e n t i ~ z  by: 

determining whether the reserve was surveyed or located in conformance with the 
terms of the treaty - in this case, following consultation behveen Canada's officers 
and the band as required by Treaty 4; 

148 Depanmenl of Indian Affairs and Nonhern Develapmenl, "Office of Native Clajms Hislo"ca1 Research Guidelines 
for Trealy Land Entillemenl Claims." May 1983. Emphasut added. 
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determining whether the survey or allotment was acceplable to the band; and 

determining whether the survey or allotment was accepted by Canada.'" 

A completed survey provides the precise location and size of a reserve, and is critical 
in measuring whether a band's treaty land entitlement has been fuffilled. A completed 
survey does not necessarily con6rm, however, that the "first survey" of a band's 
reserve has occurred, particularly where the band rejects the lands as surveyed. 

Therefore, we find the most reasonable conclusion to be derived from the inter- 
pretation of Treaty 4 is that the date of first survey is the appropriate date for calculat- 
ing treaty land entitlement. We interpret the Crown's obligation under Treaty 4 to be 
the allocation of 128 acres oE land for each band member at the lime that land was 
set apart as a reselve for the use and benefil of the band. It was only when land was 
surveyed by Canada in accordance with the treaty, and accepted by the band, that it 
could be said that the land was properly set aparl. Therefore, subject to exceptions 
being made in unusual circumstances which would ohelwise result in manifest 
unfairness, the general rule is that the population on the date of Erst survey shall be 
used to calculate a band's treaty land entitlement."" 

To summarize, the Commission considers the "conference" requirement 
of Treaty 4 to be more than a formality. It is included to ensure that the land 
meets with the approval of band leaders and that it will be suitable for its 
intended purpose. Once Canada agrees to the band's selection and completes 
the survey, the band can expressly approve or disapprove of the land set 
apart; alternatively, it can signal its approval by continuing to reside on and 
use the reserve for the collective benefit of its members, or its disapproval by 
refusing to live on and use the reserve as surveyed. In cases involving multi- 
ple surveys, it becomes necessary to identify the "true" date of first survey by 
determining whether a particular reserve was surveyed in accordance with 
the treaty and was acceptable to both Canada and the band. Obviously, it is a 
question of fact in each case whether a particular survey should amount to a 
hand's Grst survey. Indeed, in Kahkewistahaw's case, both Canada and the 
First Nation agreed that, although first in time, the survey by William Wagner 
in 1876 was not the true first survey because the band never settled on the 
land marked out. 

After issuing its report in the Kahkewistahaw inquiry, the Commission was 
called upon to consider similar questions in the treaty land entitlement claim 
of the Lucky Man Cree Nation. In that case, the First Nation argued that 

I49 Offce af the Treay Coamissioner. "Research Melhodology for TreaN land Enullemenl (TLE): 1994. 
150 ICC, Inquiry into l k  Treafy bnd Enlillemenl Claim oftbe M b w i s f a b o w  Firs1 Nation (Otlawa. November 
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Canada's obligation to set aside a reserve, and to calculate a hand's treaty 
land entitlement, should arise immediately upon the initial consultation tak- 
ing place. The Commission disagreed, finding that the facts in that case did 
not establish the necessary consensus at such an early date. After quoting 
much of the foregoing passage from its Kahkewistahaw report, the Commis- 
sion considered whether that analysis should apply with equal force in the 
context of the distinctive terms of Treaty 6. We concluded that it should. 
Treaty 6 states: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees and underfakes to lay aside reserves for 
farming lands, due respect being had to lands at present cultivated by the said Indi- 
ans, and other reserves for the benett of the said Indians, to be administered and 
dealt with for them by Her Majesty's Government of the Dominion of Canada, pro- 
vided, all such reserves shall not exceed in all one square mile for each family of five, 
or in that proportion for larger or smaller families, in manner following, that is to 
say: that the Chief Superintendent of Indian f i r s  shall depute and send a suitable 
person to determine and set apart the reserves for each band, aftr consulting with 
the Indians thereof as to the locality which may be found to be most suitable for 
them.'5' 

The Commission stated: 

The contentious words of the reserve clause are contained in the phrase "after con- 
sulting with the Indians thereof as to the locality which may be found to be most 
suitable for them." In our view, the word "consulting" contemplates the initial discus- 
sions in which an Indian band informs Canada's agents of its preferred location for a 
reserve. We agree with Canada's point, however, that other clauses in the treaty give 
fuller expression to the parties' intention that a band's reserve shall be " a p d  upon 
and surveyed." It is just this sort of consensus or meeting of the minds that the 
Commission referred to in its report dealing with the Kahkewistahaw Band of Treaty 
4, and we believe that this conclusion is equally applicable to bands under Treaty 6. 

The Lucky Man Cree Nation argued that the obligation to set aside a reserve arose 
as soon as "consultation" took place. In fact, we consider that the obligation to set 
aside a reserve arose even earlier - upon a band's adhesion to treaty. Aswe stated in 
the Kahkewistahaw report, however, the qunt~Jication and location of a band's 
entitlement were not triggered until the consensus contemplated by the treaty was 
achieved. As a general rule, the consensus to which we refer would normally occur 
upon completion of the survey - that is, at the date of first survey. It is true that there 
had to be a preliminary understanding of some sort between Canada and a band with 
respect to a speciGc location before a survey would even be underfaken. In our view, 

151 Treaty No. 6 behueen Her Majesq tbe @een and tk Plain and W w d  Cree Idians and Otkr  Tnbes of 
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this preliminary understanding was not sufficient to constitute the consensus that we 
contemplate. It was only follounng the survey, when the band indicated its acceptance 
of the surveyed area as its reserve - either expressly (by sayhg so) o r  implicitly (by 
living on or using (he reserve for its benefit) - that a true consensus could have been 
said to exist. It is for these reasons that the Commission attaches such significance to 
the date of first survey.''' 

As in this case, Canada argued in the Lucky Man inquiry that the Crown has 
the final say in determining the location of a hand's reserve. The Commission 
concluded that such a position is inconsistent with the concept of selecting 
reserves by consensus: 

the Commission does not accept Canada's contention that setting aside reserve land is 
simply a matter of royal prerogative, and that Canada, rather than a band, is "the 
decision maker as to both when and where the reserve would be located." Canada 
was required to "consult" with the Indians by the express terms of Treaty 6. For a 
true meeting of the minds to take place, both parties must have input into the pro- 
cess, and both must agree on the reserve selected and surveyed. 

Arguably, the logical extension of this requirement for consensus is that, just as it 
would have been open to a band to reject for its own reasons a reserve site selected 
by Canada, it would have been equally open to Canada to reject sites requested by the 
band if there were valid reasons for doing so. Canada's discretion in ~s regard 
would presumably have to have been exercised reasonably, however. One of the most 
important - and G c u l t  - roles of government, then and now, is to weigh and recon- 
cile con~peting interests, and in doing so Canada must have particular regard for 
treaty rights and the fiduciay nature of its relationship with the Indians. We do not 
consider this to mean that Canada was immulably bound to prefer the position of the 
Indians in all cases in which competing policy or other interests arose. What it does 
mean, in our view, is that, if, in the context of selling apart reserves, Canada chose a 
competing interest over the interests of a particular band, it must have had reasons 
for doing so that were valid and not coloured by improper considerations."' 

Neither party in this case has persuaded the Commission that it should 
take a different approach from the one it took in the Kahkewistahaw and 
Lucky Man inquiries. We still believe that the treaty makers intended the pro- 
cess of reserve selection to proceed by way of consensus and that, as a result, 
neither Canada nor the Band could unilaterally determine the location of the 

152 KC, inquiry into tbe Tea@ IandEnlillernenl Ckim o f l k  LucbMan Cree Nafian (Ollawa, March 19971, 
reporled (1998) 6 ICCP 109 at 162-63. 

I53 ICC. inquity inlo lbe Tmaty Iand h'nlitlernenl Cbim o f lk  Lucb Man Cree Nation (Ottawa. March 1997). 
reported (1998) 6 ICCP to9 a1 164~65. 



G A M B L E R S  F I R S T  N A T I O N  INQUIRY R E P O R T  

reserve. Both parties were subject to the reasonable limitations identified in 
Canada's submissions and conceded by counsel for the First Nation. 

We turn now to the question of whether such consensus existed in relation 
to the 1877 survey. 

Was There Consensus? 
The submissions by the Gamblers First Nation on this issue are directed 
towards two main themes. The first is that, in the meeting on August 28, 
1875, at which the Gambler was the "chief Orator," Commissioners Christie 
and Dickieson reached an agreement with the Fort EUice Band that its 
reserve should be located "at the head of the Bird Tad Creek," and instructed 
Wagner to survey the reserve there. Counsel argued: 

Although the specsc boundaries are not detailed in the lener it seems apparent that 
the government representatives knew of the contlguration they requested because they 
knew it fell within the limits of Treaty 2 land."' 

According to the First Nation, the "only impediment" to surveying the reserve 
in this location at that time was that the land lay within the geographical 
limits of Trr~ty 2 and the Commissioners were unsure whether land could be 
set apart for a Treaty 4 band there."' Presumably, therefore, none of the 
other "reasonable limitations" on reserve selection identified by counsel for 
Canada (and conceded by counsel for the First Nation) were relevant factors 
in this case. Accordingly, the First Nation submits that Canada, and specifi- 
cally Wagner, knew or ought to have known the Band's wishes before the 
1877 survey was undertaken.'56 

The second point of the First Nation's argument is that, once agreement 
had been reached between the duly authorized representatives of Canada and 
the Band in 1875 as to the location of the reserve, the government was not 
permitted to impose a new location unilaterally on the Band. Nevertheless, in 
a report dated May 9, 1877, Laird commented that, although Band members 
preferred their reserve on both sides of Bird Tail Creek, they would likely 
"be content to have it all on the West side." The First Nation views this com- 
ment as evidence of Laird's intent to "wrongly and unilaterally depart from 
the clearly expressed wishes of the Band . . ." and vary without any sound 
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basis the terms of the agreement reached at the 1875 conference. Therefore, 
the First Nation submits that Laird's conduct amounted to a "nagrant example 
of a representative of Canada acting 'without honour' in his dealings with 
those Indians who were looking to Canada to fulfill the spirit and letter of the 
Treaty."l5' 

Similarly, when Wagner eventually surveyed the reserve in 1877, he did so 
with the assistance of a man he knew was not the Gambler. He also did so in 
accordance with that man's instmctions and with laird's recommendation 
that the reserve be set apart on the west side of Bird Tail Creek - both of 
which were contrary to the 1875 agreement.15s The First Nation further sub- 
mits that, following the survey, the Gambler "immediately" voiced his objec- 
tion, but Wagner, whether through prejndice,159 spite,lM or arrogance,16' 
refused to relocate the reserve. In December 1877, Waywayseecappo and his 
headmen objected once again to no avd,  this time to McDonald. According 
to the First Nation, Wagner's refusal coupled with McDonald's inaction 
amount to further evidence of Canada's unilateral variation of the selection 
made in 1875.L62 Counsel argued that the majority of the Band followed the 
Gambler to his new reserve at Silver Creek and this underscores the level of 
the Band's disenchantment with Wagner's snrvey.16' The logical conclusion of 
the First Nation's position, submits Canada, is that, if a "conference" requires 
Canada and a band to reach a consensus, either a consensus was reached in 
1875 and then breached by Canada, or no consensus was reached at all.L" 
To this argument, the First Nation counters that even Canada did not approve 
of the 1877 survey: 

To this end, it is sigruficant that the survey of 1877 was never formally approved by 
the appropriite government authorities, nor was it made the subject of approval by 
Order-in-Council. On the other hand, the surveys performed in 1883 were approved 
by Chief Surveyor Nelson in Janualy 1889, and on May 17, 1889 continned by Order- 
in-Co~ncil.'~' 
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In response, Canada contends that, if "conference" has the meaning pro- 
posed by the First Nation, Canada has satisfied the conference requirement of 
Treaty 4 in any event, and therefore the survey of 1877 fixed the date when 
the First Nation's population should be counted for treaty land entitlement 
purposes.'66 Canada points to at least five occasions when its representatives 
met with the Chief and others to discuss reserve selection: 

the initial conference in late August 1875 between Commissioners Christie 
and Dickieson for Canada and representatives of the Band, including the 
Gambler as "chief Orator"; 

- the meeting on August 3, 1876, involving Dickieson, Wagner, and Indian 
Agent Angus McKay, of which McKay reported that Waywayseecappo was 
not yet prepared to select his reserve because one of his headmen was 
absent; 

the meeting between the Chief and Wagner in December 1876 as the latter 
passed through on his way to Fort Pelly; 

- Laird's interview or interviews with Waywayseecappo as reported in Laird's 
letter of May 9, 1877; and 

ultimately, the meeting between Wagner and Waywayseecappo in July 1877 
during which the Chief instructed his son-in-law to point out the reserve to 
Wagner.I6' 

Canada submits that it considered and complied with the wishes of the Band 
to have the reserve surveyed at the head of Bird Tail Creek.Ia As to the First 
Nation's complaint that the location of the reserve was moved and imposed 
unilaterally without any reasonable basis from the location agreed to by 
Christie and Dickieson in 1875, Canada counters that Wagner's concern 
about excluding "all the improvements made by the Chief and his families" 
amounted to a "valid explanation for not making the changes req~ested."~~" 

In response to the First Nation's argument that objections were expressed 
by the Gambler and Waywayseecappo immediately following the 1877 survey, 
Canada submits that the entire Band nevertheless continued to reside on the 
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167 ICC Transcript, November 6, 1996, pp 188-89 (Fnnfois  Dugle). 
168 ICC T m c " p t ,  November 6, 1996, p. 185 (Franfom Dagle). 
169 Supplementq Submksions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, May 9, 1997, p. 6 



I N D I A N  C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

reserve for at least three years until the surrender meeting in early 1881.L70 
Even following the surrender, Waywayseecappo and his followers remained at 
Bird Tail Creek, and it was not many more years before the Gambler and 
most of his followers abandoned the reserve at Silver Creek and returned to 
Waywayseecappo's reserve at Bird Tail Creek (resurveyed as Lizard Point IR 
62).I7l 

Moreover, the only reason for the meeting in 1881 and the resurveys in 
1883 was to implement the surrender. They did not occur because there was 
no reserve or the initial survey had not been properly done. According to 
Canada, if a reserve had not been properly set apart for the Band in the first 
place, there would have been no need for a surrender at all; the very fact of 
the surrender proposal "shows that all accepted that the survey had set aside 
the reserve."172 

In the Commission's view, the evidence does not support the conclusion 
that Canada and the Fort EUice Band reached any sort of binding agreement 
in 1875 because there was no consensus on the specific location of the 
reserve. Christie and Dickieson obviously believed that they were not in a 
position to commit the government because they were unsure whether Wag- 
ner could be instructed to survey a reserve for the Band within the Limits of 
Treaty 2. We believe that the naming of the head of Bird Tail Creek as the 
preferred location in 1875 constituted no more than "the initial discussions 
in which an Indian band informs Canada's agents of its preferred location for 
a reserve," to use the language of the Lucky Man report. The specifics of the 
location, including the survey and the consensus between Canada and the 
Band that the lands so set apart would constitute the reserve, were still to 
come. Even if it might be considered that a conditional agreement had been 
reached subject to Canada obtaining approval of the reserve's location, there 
is other evidence which demonstrates that Band members had still not made 
up their own minds. 

In his year-end report for 1875, Wagner indicated that the Fort Ellice Indi- 
ans would likely choose their reserve in "the midst of the woods" where 
there would be plenty of timber,173 the implication from tlus statement being 
that they had not yet chosen. Following the meeting on August 3, 1876, both 
Wagner and McKay reported that Waywayseecappo was not yet ready to 
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decide on a reserve; McKay's comment that "they did not wish their reserves 
surveyed for the present as one of their head men was absent" is just as 
consistent with divisions within the Band over where the reserve should be 
located as with the Chiefs deference to the Gambler on that issue. Still, we 
can infer from McKay's words that the location of the reserve had not yet 
been fully settled among band members. More explicit evidence of this can 
be found in Laird's letter of May 9, 1877, in which it will be recalled that he 
wrote: 

The deluy in locating the Reserves of these Rands has been caused by disape- 
men1 among their members in making a selection. They appear to have settled 
their disputes and expressed to me that they wish their Reserves to be located as 
follows: 

1. 'Wawasecappo's, or the Fort Ellice Band.' Their selection is pretty much as 
mentioned in Messrs. Christie and Dickieson's report [of October 7, 18751. They 
desire a Reserve to be surveyed for them a( the head of Bird Tail Creek, on the road 
leading from Swan Lake via Shell River, used by the North West Mounted Police in 
travelling to Swan River Barracks. The site is about 24 miles from Shoal Lake, and 
about 36 miles from the mouth of the SheU River. They would prefer to have the 
Reserve on both sides of the Bird Tail Creek, but will, I trust, be content to have it a l l  
on the West side.'14 

This letter demonstrates that the Band had not finalized its own position 
regarding reserve selection until early 1877, and suggests that the final nego- 
tiations to arrive at a consensus with the Band were still forthcoming. 

The Commission recognizes the concerns expressed by the First Nation 
regarding Laird's comment that, although Waywayseecappo's people wanted 
their reserve on both sides of Bird Tail Creek, they "will, I trust, be content 
to have it all on the West side."'7i Yet we cannot fail to notice that, although 
admittedly the lion's share of the reserve originally surveyed by Wagner was 
in fact situated to the west of Bird Tail Creek, the reserve nonetheless 
included land on the east side of the creek for fully 11 miles of its overall 
length of 11% miles. In our view, Laird's statement represented little more 
than his own personal views as to the location of the reserve, and it appears 
that the position recommended by him was not fully implemented in any 
event. 

174 David bird, Ueutenmt Governor and Indian Superintendent of the Nanh-West Territoris, to Minlster of lhe 
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Moreover, while it  might have appeared, based on the evidence available 
to the First Nation when it prepared its submissions, that Wagner had coldly 
refused to consider the Gambler's request to change the location of the 
reserve, the additional documents tendered with Canada's supplementaty 
written submission disclose that Wagner in fact had good reason to leave the 
reserve where he had originally surveyed it since the location proposed by 
the Gambler "would have excluded all the improvements made by the Chief 
and his families."17G We must conclude that consideration of these improve- 
ments was just the sort of "reasonable limitation" discussed by counsel for 
Canada and admitted by counsel for the First Nation in their respective sub- 
missions. The additional documents further reveal that Wagner had appar- 
ently already resurveyed part of the reserve because he "found out that the 
place wished for was not in it."177 After meeting with the Gambler, Wagner 
offered to move the reserve, hut the Gambler refused this overture because 
he was dissatisfied with the shape of the reserve proposed by Wagner.17* By 
the time the Gambler got back to Wagner to con6rm that a reserve 12 miles 
by six miles would be acceptable, Wagner had already finished the job and 
submitted his plans and field notes, and was apparently unable to make fur- 
ther changes without express authorization from Ottawa. 

What we see in this exchange is the sort of give and take that was surely an 
integral part of many reserve surveys. Canada and the hands made proposals 
and counterproposals, even as the reserves were being surveyed, before 
arriving at a compromise acceptable to both parties while at the same time 
perhaps not being all that either party might have desired. We consider Wag- 
ner's report on the survey of Sakimay's reserve, where he similarly refused to 
provide a reserve 40 miles long but eventually worked out a solution, as 
further evidence of this sort of compromise. It does not indicate that Wagner 
sought to dominate the Indians with whom he dealt or that he failed to survey 
in accordance with his instructions, hut rather that he was firm in insisting 
on reasonable limitations in the configurations of the reserves he was called 
upon to survey. In this respect, we find the following comments of McKay to 
be significant: 
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I found that the Indians were very much satisbed with Mr. Wagner and that he 
managed to impress them with confidence. I would respectfully recommend hat he 
be given the survey of the Reserves for Indians on the Saskatchewan as 1 am con- 
vinced that he will give the greatest satisfaction to the Indians."g 

In the final analysis, it appears to the Commission that Canada gave the 
Band precisely what it asked for: a reserve at the head and on both sides of 
Bird Tail Creek. Although the First Nation argues that Waywayseecappo and 
the man appointed by him had no authority to advise Wagner on land selec- 
tion - an issue to which we will turn momentarily - the First Nation also 
admits that Wagner surveyed in accordance with the instructions given to him 
by these two Indians.leO The Gambler raised concerns that Wagner sought to 
address, and in his later objection Waywayseecappo requested a reserve 40 
miles long that, in our view, Wagner quite reasonably refused. 

As counsel for the First Nation noted, after Waywayseecappo's objection 
there were no further documents on file for three years until the idea of a 
surrender surfaced with the arrival of the Sharman family on the south end of 
the reserve in November 1880. In our view, this lack of activity suggests that, 
notwithstanding the objections voiced by the Gambler and others, band rnem- 
bers, at least initially, decided to reside on the reserve and use it for their 
collective benefit. There appears to have been a significant faction led by the 
Gambler that grew increasingly dissatisfied with the reserve, and, for that 
group, the arrival of the Sharmans presented Canada with a convenient 
opportunity to free up part of the reserve for settlers while providing the land 
at Silver Creek in exchange for the Gambler and his followers. We make no 
comment on the validity of the surrender or Canada's motives in securing it. 
What we do take from it, however, is the express recognition by the Gambler 
that Waywayseecappo was his Chief and that the reserve had been set apart 
for the entire Band. This recognition was, if anything, reinforced by the deci- 
sion of the Gambler and many of his followers to return to Bird Tail Creek in 
1887 and later to be restored to Waywayseecappo's band list. 

Finally, with respect to the First Nation's argument that Canada never 
approved the 1877 survey by Order in Council but did approve the 1883 
surveys, we caution against placing too much significance on this fact. It will 
be recalled that, in 1876, Z.A. Lash on behalf of the Deputy Minister of Jus- 
tice expressed the opinion that "the survey and setting out of the reserve 
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having been done with the express consent & approval of the Indians & hav- 
ing since been acquiesced in by them, no Order in Council is necessaty; but 
in as much as an Order in Council is a more formal record of the pro- 
ceedings the undersigned recommends, for the avoidance of doubts, that 
one be passed approving of & confirming the reserve as already set 
apart."181 We have seen in earlier inquiries that the later practice of confirm- 
ing reserves by Order in Council was not always the approach followed by the 
government. In fact, the 1889 Order in Council by which the 1883 surveys 
were confirmed also confirmed the reserves set apart for many other bands 
over the preceding two decades. For this reason, the Order in Council must 
be looked upon as more a matter of the government catching up on its 
housecleaning than anything of special significance to Waywayseecappo, the 
Gambler, and their followers. The reason that the 1877 survey was not 
referred to in the Order in Council was that, by 1889, it had already been 
replaced and superseded by the surveys in 1883 that divided the reserve at 
Bird Tail Creek into IR 63 for the Gambler at Silver Creek and Lizard Point IR 
62 for Waywayseecappo and the others who elected to remain. 

Authority of Laird and Wagner to Select Reserves 
A further basis on which the Gamblers First Nation attacks the 1877 survey by 
William Wagner is that neither Wagner nor Iaird was authorized to confer 
with the Indians and select reserves: 

The provisions of T r e q  4 were very s p d c  and required the Government to appoint 
two officers who would act on behalf of the Government with respect to the selection 
of the reserves. As a result, only the two persons appointed in accordance with the 
Treaty would have the power to act as agent for the Government and bind them [sic] 
in that regard. Due to the cerrainty of the Treaty provisions, it is clear that only the 
commissioners specficdy appointed for the purpose of selecting the Reserve had the 
power to do so and thus, no other person, regardless of their position in the Govern- 
ment, relationship with the Indians, or apparent authority, was authorized to act as 
agent of the Government in the selection of the Reserve. Due to the fact that Commis- 
sioners Christie and Dickieson were appointed under the Treaty as agents for the 
Crown for this purpose, they were the only two men permitted to do so. In other 
words, neither David Laird nor Mr. Wagner had been given the authority to act as the 
agent for the Government and therefore any agreements or actions by these two men, 
in relation to the selection of the Reserve, are not consistent with the Treaty.lK' 
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6853 (ICC Dacumeno, p. 129). Emphasis added. 

182 Submksions on Behalf of the Gamblen Ftrsl Nation. October 24. 1996, p. 28. 



G A M B L E R S  F I R S T  N A T I O N  INQUIRY R E P O R T  

Canada's response is that, based on the decision of the Supreme Court of 
Canada inJE. Verrault C Fils Ltee u. Attorney General for Quebec,183 "a 
contract made by an agent of the Crown acting within the scope of his osten- 
sible (apparent) authority is a valid contract by the Crown" and therefore 
binding on the Crown as principal.lM As Lieutenant Governor and Indian 
Superintendent, Laird was "charged with the administration of the Treaty No. 
4 area which included the lands in and about Birdtail [sic] CreekIn5 and 
thus presumably had at least apparent, if not express, authority to meet with 
the Indians to select reserves. With regard to Wagner, Canada submits that be 
acted within the limits of his authority and indeed recognized those limits by 
refusing to incur the additional expense of revising the survey as requested by 
the Gambler without first seeking the authorization of the Surveyor 
General.lS6 

Treaty 4 states that "Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the 
said Commissioners, to assign reserves for the said Indians, such reserves to 
be selected by ofpcers of Her Majesty's Govmment of the Dominion of 
Canada appointed for thatpurpose, after conference with each band of the 
Indian~."~~' Although it is true that Christie and later Dickieson were 
appointed by Order in Council to select reserves, we see nothing in the words 
of the treaty to suggest that only Christie and Dickieson could perform, or 
could be authorized to perform, that function. Contrary to the position taken 
by the First Nation, the treaty does not refer to "two officers" but merely to 
"officers." Surely it was open to Canada to appoint as many "officers" as it 
might see fit to complete the task. Nor, in our view, was it necessary for such 
an "officer" to be given the title of "commissioner." Presumably a lieutenant 
governor or a surveyor could be considered an "officer" for the purposes of 
the treaty if part of their duties entailed selecting reserves on behalf of Indian 
bands. Similarly, Treaty 4 does not stipulate that the only appropriate officers 
would be those appointed by Order in Council and we suspect that less for- 
mal means of appointment would suffice. 

In short, while there is no evidence before us to establish that Laird or 
Wagner were appointed by Order in Council to select reserves for those 
bands desiring them, we view them as having acted within the scope of their 
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actual or implied authorityts8 and thus having had the power to bind the 
Crown. Moreover, we see nothing in the subsequent actions of the Crown to 
suggest that the steps taken by Laird and Wagner were repudiated in any way, 
and indeed, even if they acted without actual or implied authority, their work 
appears to have been accepted and ratified by the Government of Canada. 
When the "surrender for exchange" proposal arose in 1880, Canada's repre- 
sentatives clearly operated under the assumption that the land set apart in 
1877 constituted a valid and subsisting reserve. 

Ratification is distinguished by G.H.L. Fridman in Fn'dmn's b w  of 
Agency from the usual agency relationship where the agent's authority to act 
is granted before the exercise of that authority: 

With "ratitlcation" the position is reversed. What the "agent" does on behalf of the 
"principal" is done at a time when the relation of principal and agent does not 
exist. . . . The agent, in fact, has no authority to do what he does at the time he does 
it. Subsequently, however, the principal, on whose behalf, though without whose 
authority, the agent has acted, accepts the agent's act, and adopts it, just as if there 
had been a prior authorisation by the principal to do exactly what the agent has 
done. . . . [Rlatification by the principal does not merely give validity to the agent's 
unauthorised act as from the date of the ratitlcation: it is a~tedated so as to take effect 
from the time of the agent's act. Hence the agent is treated as having been authorised 
from the outset to act as he did. RaMication is "equivalent to an antecedent 
authority".'" 

We note that the principle of ratification was applied in the context of a 
Crown agency relationship in R. v. Howard, where the Supreme Court of 
Canada held that, to the extent that the Treaty Commissioners in that case 
went beyond their original instructions in negotiating a treaty, the Govern- 
ment of Canada by its subsequent conduct demonstrated that it had been 
made aware of this fact and ratdied the treaty as drafted in any event. The 
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court held that there was no legal or constitutional requirement of an Order 
in Council to ratify the treaty in ques t i~n.~g~ We find that Canada at least 
implicitly ratified the reserve at Bird Tail Creek and therefore the First 
Nation's objection to the 1877 survey on this ground must fail. 

Waywayseecappo's Authority to Select Reserves 
The next major thrust of the First Nation's challenge to the validity of the 
1877 survey is that the lands were chosen by an unauthorized representative 
of the Band, resulting in a selection that is not binding on the First Nation. 

First, the First Nation argues that there is uncontradicted evidence that the 
Gambler was expressly designated by both the Chief and the Band as the 
member who would select the reserve and advise the surveyor in marking out 
the reserve boundaries on behalf of the Fort EUice Band.lgL 

Second, the First Nation maintains that Waywayseecappo did not speak for 
the Fort Ellice Band on the matter of reserve selection; rather, at the meeting 
in 1875 the Gambler clearly expressed the Band's wishes regarding the loca- 
tion of the reserve. The Commissioners and Wagner all attended this meeting, 
at which the Gambler was acknowledged to be the "chief Orator" for the 
Indians, and, according to the First Nation, they must be considered to have 
known the Gambler and his role in reserve ~elec t ion .~~Vhe First Nation sub- 
mits that this role was confirmed, at least implicitly, by Waywayseecappo's 
reluctance to select reserve lands until 1877 and the Gambler's objection to 
the survey performed without his "approval." later, the Gambler's role was 
also explicitly confirmed by the Gambler and Waywayseecappo in their 
remarks at the surrender meeting in 1881. As with its objections to the 
actions of Iaird and Wagner, the First Nation submits that the survey of 1877 
was not based on the agreement the First Nation claimed had been made 
between the authorized agents of the government and the Indians in 1875, 
but rather on the subsequent actions of individuals who had no authority to 
bind the principals in question.l93 Therefore, in the First Nation's submission, 
the survey of 1877 once again did not meet selection requirements of Treaty 
4 and should not be considered binding.'" 

Canada takes the position that the evidence does not establish the Gam- 
bler's "appointment" to act for the Band in the selection of the reserve, nor 

I W R  c,. Hmnard. 119941 2 XR 299 at 300. 119941 3 CNLR 146. 
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does it establish the existence of an agreement between the Gambler and 
Commissioners Christie and Dickieson on the location of the reserve.lg5 
Counsel argued that, other than the Gambler's own speech at the surrender 
meeting in February 1881, there is no other reference to the Gambler being 
expressly chosen to act on behalf of the Band for the purpose of reserve 
selection and no evidence to establish that the Crown was aware of such an 
appointment.W6 The Gambler's speech was "after the fact" since it occurred 
four years after the reserve was selected and six years after the consultations 
at Fort Ellice be gar^.^'^ According to Canada, Wagner remained unaware of 
the Gambler's role even following the latter's objection in 1877 to the survey 
being done without his approval because, in Wagner's report of March 26, 
1878, he figured that the reason for the Gambler's resistance was "probably 
to show me his infl~ence."~s Although the Gambler was a leading spokesman 
at the Treaty 4 negotiations, he was not, according to Canada, a Chief or 
headman and did not sign the treaty.lg9 Instead, "Waywayseecappo was the 
one that [sic] was introduced as Chief. . . [alnd this is important because 
this first meeting is really what sets the relationship between the two parties 
to the Treaty. . . and the continuing of the re la t i~nship ,"~~~ 

Canada argues that Wagner was turned away by Waywayseecappo on at 
least three occasions without any indication from the Chief that the Gambler 
was the person to consult regarding reserve selection.201 Although the First 
Nation suggests that it was consistent with Waywayseecappo's status as Chief 
to delay the survey rather than admit that only the Gambler had the authority 
to select the land,20z the proper inference, according to Canada, is that the 
Chief deferred not because the Gambler had been appointed to select the 
reserve but because the Band had not yet decided where its reserve should 
be.z" Because Waywayseecappo as Chief had the "apparent" - if not the 
actual - authority to express the wishes of the Band regarding reserve selec- 
tion, Canlda submits that his choice of land should be binding on that basis 
alone. However, any doubt was dispelled, in Canada's view, when the Band 
ratified the selection, first, by allowing Waywayseecappo to remain as Chief 

191 Submissions on Behalf of the Cavernmenl of Canada, Onober 29, 1996, p. 15. 
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Zoo ICC Tramcdpt. November 6, 1996, pp. 186-87 (Fnnmis Dzigle) 
201 ICC Transcdpt, November 6. 1996, p. 197 (Fnngois Daigle) 
202 ICC Transcript, November 6, 19%. p. 217 (Paul 8. Fonylh). 
203 ICC Tmwcdpt, November 6, 1936, p. 193 (Fnngois Daigle). 



G A M B L E R S  F I R S T  N A T I O N  INQUIRY R E P O R T  

and, second, by voting to retain the remainder of the original reserve at Bird 
Tail Creek following the surrender for e x ~ h a n g e . ~ ~  

In general, the authority of an agent is derived from an agreement between 
the principal and the agent such that "one, called the agent, is considered in 
law to represent the other, called theprincipal, in such a way as to be able 
to affect the principal's legal position in respect of strangers to the relation- 
ship by the making of contracts or the disposition of property."205 The 
Gambler, according to his surrender speech in 1881, as documented by 
McDonald, was chosen by Waywayseecappo and the Fort Ellice Band to select 
the Band's reserve, thereby making the Gambler the agent on behalf of the 
Chief and Band as principals. The absence of further documentary evidence 
demonstrating the existence of this relationship of principal and agent does 
not mean that the relationship did not exist. The Gambler's own speech, with 
which the Chief concurred, established this relationship, and that speech is 
entitled to weight in and of itself. 

Therefore, the mere fact that the Gambler may not have been referred to 
in other documents as "agent for the Band does not mean that he was not 
so appointed. Indeed we find that he was so appointed, at least 
However, a relationship of principal and agent created by an agreement 
between the parties may also be terminated either by both parties agreeing to 
its termination, or by one party unilaterally withdrawing from the original 
agreement. As G.H.L. Fridman states in Fridmun's Law of Agency: 

A. Agency created by act of parties 

Agreement, revocation and renunciation. Since the relationship of principal and 
agent has been created by agreement between them, it follows that the relationship 
may be determined by both parties agreeing to the discharge of that relationship. It 
will also be determined if either party withdraws his o r i m  agreement. This will 
occur where the principal gives the agent notice of revocation of the agency or the 
agent gives the principal notice of renunciation. Any such notice may be given in any 
form: a deed or document in writing is unnecessary, even if the original authority was 
contained in a deed?"' 

Even assuming that these common law principles relating to the express or 
implied authority of agents applied to the internal affairs and governance of 

204 Submissrans on BhdI of the Gover~lent of Canada, October 29, 1 9 6 ,  p. 16. 
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an Indian band in 1877 - and we make no finding in this regard - we see 
nothing in the circumstances of this case that would give rise to an irrevoca- 
ble agency relationship between Wapayseecappo and the Gambler. That 
being the case, there is no reason why Waywayseecappo could not have 
revoked any authorization granted to the Gambler to select the reserve. 

Therefore, we find that, by the time he protested to Wagner, the Gambler's 
authority to select land for the Fort EUice Band had apparently ceased. 
Although there apparently was an initial agreement between Waywayseecappo 
and the Gambler that the latter would select the reserve, Waywayseecappo 
appeared to have revoked the Gambler's authority to act by directing another 
member of the Band to accompany Wagner and by allowing the survey to 
proceed without the Gambler's involvement. The initial acceptance by the 
Band of the reserve as surveyed in 1877 negates any reasonable argument 
that the Gambler objected to the location on behalf of the collective Band. 

As to the effect of Wapayseecappo's revocation on Canada, we note the 
importance attached by Fridman to notice of such revocation being given by a 
principal to a third party: 

Unilateral revocation by the principal win not atfect the third party as long as the 
agent is acting in an authorised or apparently authorised manner, unless and until h e  
third party has notice of the fact that (he agent's authority has been terminated. In 
other words, as long as the principal continues to "hold oul" the agent as having 
authorily to act on his behalf, he wiU be bound by transactions between the agent and 
third parties and the principal wiU continue to "hold out" the agent in this vdy, until 
the third party has notice that the agency has ended."'" 

We find this reasoning compelling in this case in that Canada, although aware 
of the Gambler's stature as a spokesman for the Band, was not informed of 
his role in selecting the reserve and apparently did not learn of it until he 
spoke at the surrender meeting on February 24, 1881. The proposition that 
Waywayseecappo was reluctant, for reasons of stature or otherwise, to 
divulge his lack of authority to select the reserve is pure speculation, and, 
even if true, should not he allowed to prejudice Canada's position. Canada 
clearly relied upon the reasonable impression conveyed by Wapayseecappo 
that he had the authority to bind his people. We conclude that Waywaysee- 
cappo had the apparent authority to commit the Band when he advised 
Wagner regarding land selection in 1877, and Canada's representatives were 

208 G.H.L. Pridinan, Fridmn's Law ofAgency, 7th ed. (Toronto Bullenvonhs Canada. 19961, 404. 
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entitled to rely on the choices made by Waywayseecappo in the exercise of 
that authority. 

Although the First Nation argues that the Gambler immediately objected to 
the location of the reserve on behalf of the whole Band, we must concur with 
Canada that, despite the Gambler's complaint, the Band originally accepted 
the reserve as surveyed. Subsequently, only the Gambler and his followers 
relocated while a substantial number of the Fort Ellice Band remained at Bird 
Tail Creek. Although there is evidence that Waywayseecappo and the Gambler 
made arrangements in 1877 so that those members of the Band who found 
the reserve unsuitable could go where they thought they could do better,209 a 
substantial portion of the "Fort EUice Band under Chief Waywayseecappo's 
leadership apparently accepted the location of the reserve at Bird Tail Creek. 
And many of those who initially moved to the Silver Creek Reserve, including 
the Gambler himself, later returned to Bird Tail Creek. 

In our view, the facts demonstrate that, even if Waywayseecappo was not 
authorized to select reserve land or could not revoke the Gambler's authority 
to do so, the Band, including the Gambler and his followers, ratified 
Waywayseecappo's selection by residing on the land at Bird Tail Creek fol- 
lowing the 1877 survey. The remaining members of the Band further ratified 
the selection by electing to stay on the land following the departure of the 
Gambler and his followers in the wake of the 1881 surrender. 

We also regard one other aspect of the surrender meeting to be telling. At 
no time did the Gambler or any other members of the Band suggest that the 
land to be given up was not part of their reserve. Indeed, the Gambler's 
request to give up part of the reserve in exchange for the new reserve at 
Silver Creek is more an affirmation of the reserve as surveyed by Wagner than 
a challenge to its vahdity. We note that "reserve" was defined in the 1876 
Indian Act as "any tract or tracts of land set apart by treaty or otherwise for 
the use or benefit of or granted to a particular band of Indians, of which the 
legal title is in the Crown, but which is unsurrendered, and includes all the 
trees, wood, timber, soil, stone, minerals, meta!--,, or other valuables thereon 
or therein."210 The actions of the representatives of both Canada and the 
Band indicate that, following the survey in 1877, all of them regarded the 
land at Bird Tail Creek as having been set apart for the use and benefit of the 
Fort Ellice Band, notwithstanding the objections of the Gambler and his fol- 

rW A. McDonald, Indian Agent, Shone lake. NIUT, to Government af Canada. Depl of Indian Hairs, Ottawa, Onla- 
no, February 24, 1881 (ICC Documents, pp. 253-54). 
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lowers. The only reason a surrender became necessary was that, even if some 
members of the Band were dissatisfied with the configuration of the reserve, 
all nevertheless believed, as did Canada, that the land had been set apart on 
their behalf and constituted their reserve. 

In conclusion, we find that there was consensus between Canada and the 
Band on the selection of the reserve at Bird Tail Creek. However, this con- 
sensus was only achieved in 1877 following the survey by Wagner, at which 
time the Band signalled its acceptance of the reserve as surveyed by residing 
on and using the land for its collective benefit. No consensus had yet been 
established in 1875 at the time of the Band's preliminary designation of the 
general location in which it wanted its land. In our view, the 1877 survey was 
conducted in accordance with the requirements of Treaty 4 and was accepted 
by both Canada and the Band. Finally, there is no evidence before us that the 
selection and survey at Bird Tail Creek resulted in some manifest unfairness 
to the Gambler's Nation. We therefore conclude that the date of first survey 
for entitlement calculation purposes should be 1877 and not 1883. 

ISSUE 2 IMPACT OF THE 1881 SURRENDER FOR EXCHANGE 

To what extent, if at all, did the "surrender for exchange" in 1881 affect the 
treaty land entitlement of the claimants? 

It will be recalled that the surrender for exchange in 1881 arose as a result 
of the dissatisfaction of the Gambler and his followers with the reserve at 
Bird Tail Creek and the manner in which it was surveyed. In 1881, Indian 
Commissioner Edgar Dewdney and the Deputy Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs approved the surrender of 32 square miles of the Bird Tail 
Creek Reserve by the Fort Ellice Band, in exchange for an equivalent area for 
the Gambler Band at Silver Creek. Although counsel for the First Nation stated 
that the surrender for exchange had "no effect" on the First Nation's treaty 
land entitlement,211 it is nevertheless the First Nation's position that the cir- 
cumstances surrounding the surrender and the resulting surveys in 1883 
support the contention that neither Canada nor the Band took the view that 
the survey of 1877 had fulfilled the treaty land entitlement of the Gambler 
and his followers. 

The First Nation contends that these circumstances demonstrate that 
Canada did not meet the selection requirements of Treaty 4 in performing the 

211 ICC T m c n p l ,  November 6. 1994, p. 150 (Paul B. Forsy7h). 
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1877 survey. First, the Order in Council of May 30, 1879, appointing Edgar 
Dewdney as the Indian Commissioner for Treaties 4, 6, and 7 acknowledged 
Canada's failure to fulfill its treaty obligations and created Dewdney's position 
for the purpose of caryng out "in good faith and to the letter all Treaty 
C~venants."~'~ Second, following the surrender for exchange, A.W. Ponton 
was instructed in April 1883 to resurvey Waywayseecappo's reserve and to 
survey a number of other reserves for Treaty 4 hands, including the new 
reserve for the Gambler. His instructions read in part: 

I have the honor by direction of the Honourable the Indian Commissioner to 
instruct you to proceed with as little delay as possible to Fort EUice and there to 
report yourself to Mr. Indian Agent Herchmer for the purposes of laying out Reserves 
for Indians under Treaty No. 4. . . . 

The extent of the several Reserves which you may have to lay out will be governed 
by the number of souls in the Band in the manner Gxed by the Treaty that is to say 
being one square mile for each family of five souls in each Band, or in that 
proportion."' 

The First Nation argues that these instructions are important as they 
directed Ponton to fulfill the terms of Treaty 4 in his surveys for hands in that 
area. "Clearly," argues counsel, "the inference is that Canada itself in 1883 
did not regard the earlier surveys as having laid out Reserves for Indians 
pursuant to the requirements of Treaty 4 in the Fort Ellice areanLL4 and 
desired that the new survey work should do so. 

By contrast, as we have already seen, it is Canada's position that the 
proper inference to he drawn from the 1881 surrender is that both Canada 
and the Band considered that the survey of 1877 had laid out a reserve for 
the Band, failing which there would have been no requirement for a surren- 
der. Canada further argues that the 1883 resurvey of Lizard Point IR 62 
merely identified the remaining land left after the 1881 s~rrender.~" It is 
therefore Canada's position that the 1881 "surrender for exchange" does not 
affect the proposition that treaty land entitlement should he based on the 
1877 survey of Bird Tail Creek.216 
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With respect to counsel for the First Nation, it is our view that the excerpts 
from Ponton's instructions have been taken out of context, or, more prop- 
erly, have been given a meaning that is not warranted when all the surround- 
ing circumstances are taken into account. It was clearly contemplated that 
Ponton would be surveying "several" reserves in the Treaty 4 area - inclnd- 
ing reserves for bands tkdt had not yet received treaty land - and the general 
instructions given by Nelson to survey in accordance with the treaty formula 
of one square mile per f d y  of five would obviously apply in such circum- 
stances. However, Nelson also provided Ponton with the following instruc- 
tions specific to the reserves for Waywayseecappo and the Gambler: 

You wiU confer specially with Mr. Agent Herchmer and receive instructions in 
respect to marking out the lines behveen the surrendered and the unsurrendered 
portions of the Reserve for the Band of the Way-way-see-cap. 

After the completion of the sutvey of the Way-way-see-cap reserve you wiU proceed 
to the reserve projected for the Gamblers Band and d e h e  its Boundaries . . ."' 

There is no indication in these instructions that Pontoo was to calculate the 
treaty kand entitlement for Waywayseecappo and the Gambler or to do any- 
thing other than identlfy the areas to be allocated to each in accordance with 
the terms of the surrender for exchange in 1881. Moreover, there is other 
evidence which demonstrates that, for all purposes, Canada believed that it 
had established a reserve for the Fort Ellice Band in 1877. As submitted by 
Canada, the very fact that a surrender was taken in 1881 for the exchange 
evidences a belief on the part of the government that the reserve already 
existed. 

It is our view that in 1881 the parties did not intend to survey a new 
reserve but simply decided to surrender a speci6c portion of the existing 
reserve and to provide in exchange new land in the same proportion at Silver 
Creek to satisfy the Gambler and his people. The fact of the surrender for 
exchange does not give rise to the implication that there had always been two 
separate bands, or that the Gambler and his followers were seeking to have 
their new reserve set aside in accordance with the treaty formula. Rather, it is 
our conclusion that the surrender for exchange of 1881 was simply the result 
of a Band split and a decision to divide the existing land entitlement between 
the two factions. As the Gambler stated in his speech at the surrender 
meeting: 

217 John C. Nelson. Dominion Land Surve or, la A.W. Pornton, Dominion Land Surveyor, April I, 1883, NA, RC 10, 
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If we will be granted what we are asking for; and I do not like to be r e w d  by the 
Band what I think will be allowed by the Government, so if i t  will suit the Chief and 
the members of the Band in Council, we will give up to the Govemment thirtytwo 
(32) square miles of the south end of our reserve."n 

It can be seen that the Gambler himself recognized that only one band 
existed at the time, and that the land at Bird Tail Creek constituted the Band's 
reserve. It is important to observe that both the First Nation and Canada 
intended to use the amount of land surrendered at Bird Tail Creek as the 
basis for determining the area of the reserve at Silver Creek; the evidence 
simply does not support the contention that the parties intended to use the 
treaty formula as the basis for the survey of these respective reserves. We 
therefore conclude that the surrender for exchange in 1881 did not in any 
way affect the basis upon which the treaty land entitlement of the Gamblers 
First Nation should be calculated. Accordingly, the appropriate date of first 
survey for the Gambler and his followers remains 1877 when they were part 
of the collective membership of the Fort Ellice Band under Chief 
Waywayseecappo. 

On a final note, however, we wish to emphasize that our findings regard- 
ing the First Nation's date of first survey should not be taken as necessarily 
suggesting that we believe the First Nation has an adequate land base for its 
current needs. The oral evidence presented to us on November 5, 1996, 
made it abundantly clear that the First Nation is struggling to deal with a 
limited and inadequate land base, without even sufficient room for gardens 
or an adequate playground area for children. However, we understand that 
there are at present claims being advanced by the First Nation with respect to 
the discrepancy in the number of sections of land - 30 or 32 - to he surren- 
dered for exchange in 1881, and with respect to the validity of later surren- 
ders of reserve land by the First Nation. Although we are not prepared to rule 
on the merits of these other claims, we recognize that the First Nation, if it 
can successfully establish its position in those claims, might alleviate to some 
degree its current difficulty. Our sympathy for the First Nation's current situa- 
tion must be tempered by the requirement that, with respect to the treaty 
land entitlement claim at present before us, we must adhere to existing prin- 
ciples involved in determining whether Canada owes the First Nation an out- 
standing lawful obligation. 
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PART V 

RECOMMENDATION 

Having concluded that the Gamblers First Nation has failed to establish that 
its date of Erst survey was 1883, and that the 1881 surrender for exchange 
had no impact on the basis for calculating the First Nation's treaty land enti- 
tlement, the Commission recommends: 

'that the Gamblers First Nation's outstanding treaty land entitlement, 
if any, should be calculated based on an 1877 date of first survey. 

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSlON 

Daniel J. Bellegarde Roger J. Augustine Carole T. Corcoran 
Commission Co-Chair Commissioner Commissioner 

Dated this Z2nd day of October, 1998. 



APPENDIX A 

GAMBLERS FIRST NATION TREATY LAND ENTITLEMENT INQUIRY 

1 Planning conference Ottawa, June 14, 1996 

2 Community session Binscarth, Manitoba, November 5, 1996 

The Commission conducted a community session at the Binscarth Com- 
munity Club at which the following members of the Gamblers First Nation 
testified: Chief Louis Tanner, Patrick Tanner, James Tanner, George Tan- 
ner, and Donna Tanner. 

3 Legal argument Binscartb, Manitoba, November 6, 1996 

4 Content of formal record 

The formal record for the Gamblers First Nation Inquiry consists of the 
following: 

the documentary record (3 volumes of documents and annotated 
index, which were cumulatively marked as Exhibit 1) 

11 other exhibits tendered during the inquiry, marked as Exlubits 2 to 
12 

combined transcript of community session and oral submissions (1 
volume) 

written submission of counsel for the Gamblers First Nation, dated 
October 24, 1996 

written submission and supplementary submission of counsel for 
Canada, dated October 29, 1996, and May 9, 1997, respectively 

The report of the Commission and letters of transmittal to the parties wiU 
complete the formal record of this inquiry. 




